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          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning. I'm

          3  Council Member Helen Foster, Chair of the New York

          4  City Council Committee on Parks and Recreation, and

          5  I'd like to welcome you to this joint hearing with

          6  the Committee On Environmental Protection, Chaired

          7  by Council Member Jim Gennaro.

          8                 Today the Committee will hear

          9  testimony on Intro. No. 566, which proposes a local

         10  law to create a temporary task force to study the

         11  feasibility of transferring City-owned wetlands to

         12  the jurisdiction of the Department of Parks and

         13  Recreation.

         14                 In the City of New York, there were

         15  only approximately 14 square miles of wetlands still

         16  in existence, where more than 100 square miles once

         17  existed.

         18                 While 778 native plants and animals

         19  still exist in the City, this only accounts for 60

         20  percent of the species that existed over a hundred

         21  years ago.

         22                 In furtherance of maintaining and

         23  preserving the existence of these wetland areas, it

         24  has been suggested at a prior hearing that the

         25  Department of Parks and Recreation would be the best
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          2  government agency to protect and regulate these

          3  precious wetland areas.

          4                 In furtherance of this purpose, this

          5  legislation recommends that a temporary task force

          6  be established in order to advise the Mayor of the

          7  City of New York and the Speaker of the Council of

          8  the City of New York as to the technical, legal,

          9  environmental and economic feasibility of a transfer

         10  of these City-owned wetland areas to the

         11  Commissioner of Parks and Recreation.

         12                 We have been joined by Council Member

         13  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, Council member, our

         14  newest member to the Parks Committee, which I would

         15  like to welcome, Council Member Maria del Carmen

         16  Arroyo. Welcome. From the Bronx also. And then we

         17  have Council Member Gennaro, and he will introduce.

         18  And from my staff we have Chima, Policy, and

         19  Freddie, Attorney for the Committee.

         20                 I am going to turn it over to Council

         21  Member Gennaro, because as I said to him, I look at

         22  this as Parks joining with Environmental Protection,

         23  and I'm very eager to hear the testimony and learn

         24  more.

         25                 I think that we have the potential to
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          2  save the wetlands and what was in the Daily News

          3  today in Queens, they mentioned yesterday, about the

          4  Bronx. So, we are clearly on the right step. And

          5  coming in is Council Member Joe Addabbo from Queens,

          6  and Council Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan.

          7  So, I look forward to the testimony and I'll turn it

          8  over to Council Member Gennaro.

          9                 Thank you, Council Member Foster.

         10  Thank you for your great work with the Parks

         11  Committee, and I'm happy and proud to have this

         12  opportunity to cooperate with you on something as

         13  important as saving Jamaica Bay. So, thank you for

         14  your kind comments, and I look forward to working

         15  with you, as we do what the newspaper said we're

         16  going to do, we're going to save the day.

         17                 Good morning. I'm Council Member Jim

         18  Gennaro, Chair of the Counsel's Committee on

         19  Environmental Protection. I also welcome you to this

         20  joint hearing with the Council's Committee on Parks

         21  and Recreation, chaired, of course, with my

         22  colleague Helen Foster, and Helen already mentioned

         23  one of the bills that we're looking at. I'll talk

         24  about some of the other bills that are before us

         25  today.
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          2                 Today our Committees will hear

          3  testimony on two bills and a resolution, all would

          4  seek to preserve and protect Jamaica Bay, truly one

          5  of New York City's foremost natural resource

          6  treasures.

          7                 In November of 2002, the Committee

          8  held an oversight hearing on the future of the bay.

          9  The focus of that hearing was on the bay's

         10  disappearing marshlands, and environmental health of

         11  the bay.

         12                 This past October this Committee held

         13  another hearing on the bay, this time to measure

         14  progress made since November of 2002 and preventing

         15  further loss of its marshland and improving the

         16  overall health of the bay.

         17                 The items before us today were

         18  drafted to a large extent, drafted as response to

         19  what was learned from these two hearings and what we

         20  concluded the City Council could and should do to

         21  more aggressively protect Jamaica bay.

         22                 Let me describe the legislation

         23  before us today.

         24                 Intro. 565 would require City

         25  agencies with the help of a public advisory
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          2  committee to create a comprehensive watershed

          3  protection plan for the bay. And we've got a couple

          4  of agencies, at least one I know of that's very good

          5  at developing watershed protection plans, and we'll

          6  be hearing from them.

          7                 Such a plan would be needed to

          8  contain critical -- would need to contain elements

          9  critical to preserving and improving the ecology of

         10  the bay, including reducing the amount of sewage and

         11  runoff discharged into the bay; advancing water

         12  quality from land uses around the bay, and making

         13  sure that we have proper communication between the

         14  various agencies involved in bay-related restoration

         15  efforts, in implementing a public education program,

         16  to make sure that we're all better stewards of the

         17  bay.

         18                 Resolution 830 calls upon the State

         19  Department of Environmental Conservation to reduce

         20  the levels of pollutants being discharged into the

         21  bay by creating and implementing a total maximum

         22  daily load, or as we say TMDL, for nitrogen

         23  discharges into the bay.

         24                 Many scientists believe that nitrogen

         25  pollution plays a major role in the bay's loss of
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          2  wetlands and overall decline in health.

          3                 Water tests have consistently found

          4  nitrogen levels beyond those that are set out in the

          5  Clean Water Act.

          6                 Through a TMDL, a source of nitrogen

          7  pollution to the bay would be catalogued, and then

          8  we would put forward strategies and timetables for

          9  controlling these sources.

         10                 The USEPA and the DEC had agreed to

         11  put forward a TMDL for the bay, but it was first

         12  postponed from 2005 to 2006 and now there are signs

         13  that it may be delayed until 2007 or possibly later.

         14                 And although we're sort of calling

         15  for a TMDL with this resolution, I've had some

         16  interesting conversations with people that, you

         17  know, maybe there's a way to accomplish what we were

         18  going to accomplish, you know, through the TMDL

         19  without actually having to do it right now. But

         20  these are things that will play out as we talk about

         21  this legislation.

         22                 Helen already did a great job in

         23  talking about Intro. 566, about the transfer of

         24  City-owned wetlands to the Parks Department. And to

         25  sort of quote the Daily News today, these bills
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          2  create a trinity of preservation and renewal for

          3  Jamaica Bay and according to the reporter that wrote

          4  the article, that was a nice line, I thought.

          5                 And reflect a thoughtful, focused and

          6  determined response by New York City Council to the

          7  serious threats to the very existence of one of New

          8  York City's foremost natural resource treasures.

          9                 And before I call our first witness,

         10  I'd like to thank all the great champions of the bay

         11  and the environmental movement who have worked so

         12  long and hard on these issues.

         13                 You know we'd like to think of

         14  ourselves here at the Council, we're going to come

         15  forward, we're going to save the bay and we're going

         16  to do all these things, but it's really all of you

         17  who work day in/day out for all that you've done,

         18  and we want to thank you for all of the work that

         19  you, on a daily basis do to preserve the bay.

         20                 I know we'll be hearing from many of

         21  you. We have a schedule of witnesses, those who have

         22  already signaled to us their desire to speak, but

         23  anyone who wishes to speak could see the Sergeant

         24  and sign up and we'll be happy to get the benefit of

         25  your views.
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          2                 I would like to thank the Policy

          3  Analyst for this Committee, Richard Colon, who has

          4  done so much, to put this hearing on track. Thank

          5  you, Richard.

          6                 Also, Donna DeCostanzo, the Counsel

          7  to the Environmental Committee, who is not here

          8  today, but always does such a great job for us. And

          9  my own Chief of Staff Peter Washburn and Brittany

         10  Mariorty for what they've done, and Helen I already

         11  mentioned. Amanda, did you mention Amanda?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Amanda Mayer.

         14  Thank you, Amanda.

         15                 And without further ado, I would like

         16  to call our first witness, my good friend Dave

         17  Tweedy, the First Deputy Commissioner of New York

         18  City DEP, and Bill Tie, also a friend. Director of

         19  the Natural Resources Group at the New York City

         20  Department of Parks and Recreation.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 As most folks know, at least in my

         23  committee, I'm hoping that Helen will indulge me, we

         24  swear in all of the witnesses before the Committee,

         25  so I would like to call upon Fred to Administer the
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          2  oath.

          3                 After you take the oath, you can

          4  state your name for the record, and proceed with

          5  your good testimony.

          6                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you each solemnly

          7  swear or affirm to tell the truth, and nothing but

          8  the truth?

          9                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         10                 MR. KAPLAN: State your names for the

         11  record.

         12                 MR. MUELLER: Jim Muller, New York

         13  City DEP.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: I'm

         15  David Tweedy, First Deputy Commissioner, DEP.

         16                 MR. TAI: And Bill Tai, with the New

         17  York City Parks Department.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you so

         19  much for coming here today. We look forward to the

         20  benefit of your views, and without further ado, we

         21  ask that you begin to enlighten us.

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

         23  Well, Chairman, thank you. And good morning to all

         24  the other members. As you did point out, and I'm

         25  going to start speaking for DEP this morning, we
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          2  were here in October, and I testified in some detail

          3  as to our agency's involvement and a number of the

          4  initiatives underway that are going to contribute to

          5  a long-term improvement of health of the bay.

          6                 I think prior to my testifying in

          7  October, Commissioner Ward, who left unfortunately

          8  last year at some point, had testified at least

          9  once, maybe twice on this subject, and it is entire

         10  appropriate that DEP is at the table for testimony

         11  on this bay. We are a major player in meeting our

         12  mission of bringing about 1.2 billion gallons of the

         13  world's best drinking water of the City every day,

         14  and then having the task of taking that water when

         15  it's wastewater out of the City. We depend on

         16  Jamaica Bay and other water bodies as a way that

         17  once we've cleaned water adequately, we remove

         18  wastewater from the City. So, we are a major player

         19  in Jamaica Bay.

         20                 What I'd like to do this morning is

         21  to revisit quickly some of the testimony that we did

         22  contribute last October. I think it's important for

         23  context in reviewing these bills and these proposals

         24  to understand our current relationship and programs

         25  already underway that relate to the bay.
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          2                 So, let me continue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But you will be

          4  giving testimony on the legislative items before us

          5  today?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: I

          7  will. Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: I

         10  just want to start with a map that we showed in

         11  October that I think is really instructive of what

         12  we're dealing with.

         13                 It's a USGS navigational map from

         14  1899, showing what Jamaica Bay looked like over a

         15  century ago. Beach and broad channels located along

         16  the southern portion of the bay are evident and had

         17  similar water depths of the present day.

         18                 Grassy Bay, located in the northern

         19  portion of the bay, adjacent to the present day JFK

         20  International Airport, had depths ranging from one

         21  to five feet. Jamaica Bay was bordered mostly by

         22  tidal wetlands.

         23                 Jamaica Bay has been significantly

         24  altered by man's activities, as shown in the

         25  contrasting 1995 NOAA chart (phonetic). Naturally
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          2  flowing meandering tributaries were channelized and

          3  bulkheaded, the bay was dredged to create

          4  landmasses, including JFK Airport.

          5                 Within the last century and mostly

          6  within the last 40 to 60 years, Jamaica Bay has been

          7  significantly altered by man's activities.

          8  Population growth, urban development, have resulted

          9  in the hardening of shore lines along the northern

         10  portion of the bay, thereby eliminating most of the

         11  tidal wetlands. The northern channel has been

         12  dredged to depths of 25 to 30 feet, and grassy bay

         13  was dredged to maximum depths of 50 feet to support

         14  the development of JFK, and its runways.

         15                 The broad channel community has also

         16  developed, which together, with the JFK runway

         17  extension has effectively separated grassy bay from

         18  the Western portion of Jamaica Bay.

         19                 Now, as we discussed in October,

         20  while this has been going on and there are complex

         21  reasons and a number of reasons why Jamaica Bay is

         22  changing all the time. There is no doubt that DEP,

         23  with it's four wastewater treatment plants, a number

         24  of combined sewer outflows, and our ongoing

         25  responsibilities to monitor and take care of water
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          2  quality, has been a major player and obviously an

          3  important participant in activities involving the

          4  bay.

          5                 Under legal mandates, we are already

          6  embarking and have embarked on a number of

          7  improvements that are costing a great deal of money

          8  and that are achieving results, and I'm going to

          9  summarize the activities that through our

         10  responsibilities DEP is furthering around Jamaica

         11  Bay.

         12                 We're in summary working on the

         13  wetlands loss issues. We have wastewater treatment

         14  improvements that are underway, and we have ongoing

         15  harbor monitoring that provides information and

         16  helps us develop strategies that we're working on

         17  with the State Department of Environmental

         18  Conservation.

         19                 Just to jump ahead, we owe DEC, in

         20  October of 2006, a comprehensive plan for Jamaica

         21  Bay and it's long-term improvement, that is akin to

         22  some of the requirements that are proposed for this

         23  legislation today.

         24                 For the Jamaica Bay comprehensive

         25  water quality plan, treatment alternatives DEP has
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          2  looked at, include various levels of nitrogen

          3  removal, from low-cost, low-level, to high cost

          4  limit of technology approaches.

          5                 Non-treatment alternatives being

          6  evaluated, include outfall relocation to either the

          7  Rockaway inlet, or to the Atlantic Ocean and

          8  physical recontouring of the bottom bathymetry of

          9  Grassy Bay and the norther channel of the bay.

         10  Recontouring alternatives are considering bringing

         11  bottom depths up to eight feet below mean low water,

         12  from the current bottom depths from 20 to 45 feet

         13  below mean low water.

         14                 These depths approach historical

         15  depth but still permit navigation and recreational

         16  boat use of the bay.

         17                 We continue to improve and expand the

         18  sewer system service in Jamaica Bay, a very

         19  important component to the overall health of the

         20  bay. We are building new storm sewers to keep

         21  rainwater out of the sanitary sewer system. We are

         22  replacing sanitary sewers and redirecting existing

         23  ones where they have improperly connected to storm

         24  sewers, we're building new sanitary sewers to pick

         25  up illegal discharges in areas not served by
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          2  sanitary sewers.

          3                 These are long-term components of the

          4  DEP capital program that are supported through the

          5  increase in water rates every year. I should just

          6  mention that the DEP capital program over ten years

          7  currently totals, 16 and a half billion dollars. If

          8  you add the current year, it's a $19 billion capital

          9  program.

         10                 Within that total, there are billions

         11  of dollars being spent on improving our wastewater

         12  treatment infrastructure, and much of that money is

         13  directed at the floor plans that have an immediate

         14  impact on Jamaica Bay.

         15                 The steps to improve water quality in

         16  Jamaica Bay, over the last several years we've

         17  expended about $100 million in Southeast Queens on

         18  capital sewer projects. Over the next five years we

         19  expend approximately the same amount consistent with

         20  our current planning.

         21                 A whole other topic around the health

         22  of Jamaica Bay involves the landfills that DEP is

         23  responsible for remediating.

         24                 We are committed to remediating both

         25  Pennyslvania Avenue and the Fountain Avenue
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          2  Landfills. Remediation plans are well underway and

          3  include installation of a GO membrane liner, gas

          4  collection and flaring systems.

          5                 Placement of grading fill, a barrier

          6  protection soil layer and top soil, and the planting

          7  of vegetation. The combined cost of these projects

          8  is $213 million.

          9                 Talking now about specific efforts

         10  around marsh land and wetland loss.

         11                 Beginning in 1996, our agency has

         12  been the local co-sponsor with the United States

         13  Army Corps of Engineers in the Jamaica Bay Ecosystem

         14  Restoration Project.

         15                 We have committed as an agency $3

         16  million in cash and in-kind services to work

         17  cooperatively with United States Army Corps.

         18                 The final stages of the ecosystem

         19  feasibility study will be completed this year.

         20                 The Army Corps will then approach

         21  congress for final authorization and funding. DEP

         22  will continue to serve as the local co-sponsor for

         23  the project.

         24                 We have also been active in water

         25  quality monitoring programs, which have been in
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          2  place in the City's waters going back to early part

          3  of the last century. The program is called the

          4  Harbor Survey. Monitoring is conducted in Jamaica

          5  Bay and its tributaries at bimonthly to monthly

          6  intervals.

          7                 In addition to better understand the

          8  inner-relationships between nutrient inputs, primary

          9  production, algae growth and dissolved oxygen within

         10  the bay. DEP funded the Jamaica Bay Nutrification

         11  Study, which lead to the development of the Jamaica

         12  Bay model. Specialized water quality monitoring was

         13  conducted as part of this effort.

         14                 This model is currently being used to

         15  assess nutrient control strategies, as part of the

         16  judicial order for nitrogen control, as well as

         17  assisting the US Army Corps of Engineers in the

         18  Jamaica Bay Ecosystem restoration project.

         19                 Total cost for this study are between

         20  two- and three-million dollars.

         21                 Combined sewer outflows, another

         22  responsibility of our agency and another component,

         23  when one looks at the ecosystem in Jamaica Bay.

         24                 Our efforts to control and reduce the

         25  impact of CSOs began with the construction of the
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          2  Spring Creek facility in 1974. It is currently

          3  undergoing a design upgrade at a cost of $87

          4  million.

          5                 Construction of the 50 million gallon

          6  Paerdegat Basin storage facility was recently begun.

          7  Total construction cost for that project are $300

          8  million.

          9                 Wet weather capacity, again a key

         10  component of how you control health of the water

         11  bodies, because the extent we can control wet water

         12  flow, we eliminate the need to discharge raw sewage

         13  into water bodies.

         14                 Wet water capacity, Jamaica Bay, the

         15  wastewater treatment plant, would be expanded by 50

         16  million gallons per day to reduce CSO overflows to

         17  Bergen Basin. Additionally sewers will be

         18  constructed to reduce CSOs to Thurston Basin.

         19                 A facility plan is being developed

         20  for Fresh Creek that will include cleaning of the

         21  sewers, and will likely require a storage facility

         22  and an increase of wet weather capacity at the 26

         23  Award Treatment Plant (phonetic) of about 50 million

         24  gallons a day.

         25                 Discharge of floatables via our
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          2  combined sewer outflows presents an aesthetics

          3  problem to the water bodies in Jamaica Bay. We've

          4  been addressing this problem via the construction of

          5  containment booms and the use of skimmer vessels, at

          6  a capital cost of almost a million dollars in annual

          7  operating costs of about $265,000.

          8                 Just to focus on the specific issue

          9  of marshlands loss now.

         10                 We all recognize that the loss is

         11  significant, it seems linear and it continues. It

         12  has been said certainly that nitrogen in the water

         13  is a component of this. DEP's position, and we have

         14  said this consistently, is we don't think the

         15  scientific consensus is that nitrogen is the

         16  determinant, and it is a complex ecosystem we're

         17  looking at that involves the impact of dredging,

         18  development, population growth and other things, but

         19  clearly nitrogen in the water is a key component.

         20                 The graph that is presented at the

         21  moment on the board represents the effluent

         22  discharge load of total nitrogen from the four

         23  Jamaica wastewater treatment plans from the period

         24  July 1991 to August 2004.

         25                 Now, depicted, total nitrogen
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          2  discharges from Jamaica Bay wastewater treatment

          3  plants increased in the nineties.

          4                 This increase was associated with a

          5  start-up of our sludge dewatering facilities. That

          6  additional nitrogen load results from the residual

          7  liquid known as centrate that is created when sludge

          8  is dewatered. Sludge dewatering facilities were

          9  constructed by DEP in the early 1990s when ocean

         10  dumping of our sludge was no longer permitted by the

         11  United States EPA.

         12                 DEP constructed additional treatment

         13  facilities at the 26 Ward Wastewater Treatment Plant

         14  to treat the centrate load and is currently well

         15  within compliance with the total nitrogen effluent

         16  limits for the four Jamaica Bay Wastewater Treatment

         17  Plants.

         18                 Finally, commenting on some other

         19  issues that bear on this topic; filling in of the

         20  borrow pits. The dredging that took place. We are

         21  involved with the Army Corps looking at this grassy

         22  bay issue. DEC has a demonstration project to fill

         23  in an area around Norton Basin and Little Bay, and

         24  if successful, that could be extended to the grassy

         25  bay.
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          2                 Also, the coastal eutrophication

          3  analysis is ongoing, and EPA is now establishing

          4  coastal nutrient criteria and our harbor, ongoing

          5  harbor work is working towards establishing

          6  harborwide nutrient total maximum daily loads. These

          7  are also components of the ongoing work at Jamaica.

          8                 The final comment I want to make

          9  concerns our ongoing relationship and negotiations

         10  with the Department of Environmental Conservation.

         11  As I said at the beginning, as part of our consent

         12  agreement with DEC, we are working on and we owe

         13  them a comprehensive plan for Jamaica Bay, which we

         14  will deliver to them in October of 2006. It is

         15  required by an existing nitrogen consent order. It

         16  will summarize and integrate information from the

         17  numerous water quality initiatives underway and that

         18  are proposed for Jamaica Bay.

         19                 They will look at treatment, as well

         20  as non-treatment alternatives to be investigated to

         21  improve water quality.

         22                 And as I said, we are underway in

         23  that project through which we are creating that plan

         24  is on schedule.

         25                 The summary I just gave you was to
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          2  sort of create the context of when we look at the

          3  proposals that the Chairman has presented. It needs

          4  to be looked at in the context of work already

          5  underway. We would also suggest it needs to be

          6  looked at in the context of how complex the issue of

          7  marshland loss is.

          8                 It needs a comprehensive approach.

          9  That is clear. There is no one component that is

         10  going to solve this problem, if it's solvable at

         11  all, because again, from our point of view, the

         12  science does not determine that. Clearly, however,

         13  we are as interested as an agency as anybody in

         14  improving the health of the bay.

         15                 To address specifically the proposals

         16  at the table, and starting with the last one, the

         17  total for creating a total maximum daily load for

         18  the bay creates concerns on the part of our agency,

         19  and the reason for that is quite simple, we are in

         20  the midst, as the Chairman knows, of a long, arduous

         21  negotiation with DEC around our overall nitrogen

         22  program affecting Long Island Sound. We are, we

         23  hope, very close to finalizing that agreement.

         24                 If we do that, it will be a wonderful

         25  thing for the City because we will be meeting on a
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          2  more aggressive time frame, the total maximum daily

          3  load goals set forth in that consent order, and we

          4  will be doing it, saving from the original program,

          5  significant amounts of capital dollars.

          6                 I'd like just to remind all the

          7  Council members, that we are not funded. Our capital

          8  program, unfortunately, receives no money from the

          9  federal budget, we receive no money from the state

         10  budget. That $19 billion, with the exception of some

         11  interest rate subsidy that we get through

         12  Environmental Facilities Corporation, is fully

         13  funded by the water bill payers of New York City.

         14                 Every one percent increase of the

         15  annual water bill is worth about $16 million. The

         16  annual revenue coming in from water bills is about

         17  $1.6 billion a year. So when we increase water rates

         18  by one percent, that's worth about $16 million a

         19  year. It takes a lot of $16 million even if you bond

         20  it to come up with the size of the capital program

         21  required, and there are many competing needs.

         22                 So, as an agency, we are looking

         23  around investments to reduce nitrogen, to improve

         24  our wastewater treatment plants in the context of

         25  competing needs that include significant needs on
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          2  the fresh water side. You're all aware of the

          3  aqueduct leak and a number of other critical needs.

          4  The Kensico City Tunnel Project just began, a third

          5  leg of a tunnel that we desperately need between our

          6  two major reservoirs north of the City.

          7                 You're all aware that the third water

          8  tunnel is underway, and on schedule, but that's

          9  another critical piece of redundancy for the City.

         10                 So, all investments we make,

         11  including removal of nitrogen, which is a great

         12  goal, have to be looked at in the context of

         13  competing needs.

         14                 So, I say that to say that we are

         15  absolutely in favor of whatever makes sense to

         16  improve water quality in Jamaica Bay and in all of

         17  our water bodies, but as an agency we're concerned

         18  about any legal requirement that gets imposed on us

         19  beyond, frankly, the schedule that we already have

         20  with DEC.

         21                 We would expect this long-term

         22  Jamaica Bay Plan, owed to DEC, next year, to result

         23  in solutions that may include, that may include a

         24  total maximum daily load, or as you, Chairman, said

         25  earlier, may not, because there may be other
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          2  approaches to getting there.

          3                 So, that is our comment on that.

          4                 We would absolutely welcome a task

          5  force approach, which DEP needs to participate in

          6  with Parks and others because, again, we're such

          7  important players, and we have so much invested

          8  already in the bay. So, we think that's a great idea

          9  and how that translates into reality, we would

         10  obviously want to be involved in. We think that's an

         11  excellent idea, and we look forward to working with

         12  the Council on that. And that's my testimony. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         15                 Thank you, Commissioner. We'll just

         16  go to Bill, and then we'll ask you questions all

         17  together.

         18                 MR. TAI: Thank you, Mr. Chair. It's

         19  good to see you again.

         20                 Good morning, Madam Chair, Council

         21  members.

         22                 Again, my name is Bill Tai. I'm the

         23  Director of Natural Resources at City Parks

         24  Department. On behalf of Commissioner Benepe, I'm

         25  pleased to be here today to discuss both the Jamaica
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          2  Bay watershed and the City's larger wetland and the

          3  City's larger wetland inventory.

          4                 I'll first speak about Jamaica Bay

          5  and Intro. 565, and then discuss Intro. 566, which

          6  would, as we've heard, establish a temporary task

          7  force to examine the feasibility of transferring

          8  additional wetlands to the Parks.

          9                 Jamaica Bay comprises an area almost

         10  equal to that of Manhattan Island, approximately

         11  25,000 acres, 39 square miles of islands, waterways,

         12  tidelands, even freshwater ponds. It drains a

         13  surrounding watershed that encompasses approximately

         14  85,000 acres, or 133 square miles. As we know, these

         15  wetlands provide a unique setting for both wildlife

         16  preservation and recreation. Protected from the

         17  Atlantic Ocean by the Rockaway Peninsula, Jamaica

         18  Bay provides an important habitat for hundreds of

         19  species of birds, insects and fish. The bay's

         20  configuration and associated wetlands also mitigate

         21  the impact of ocean waves on the shorelines of

         22  Brooklyn and Queens as we know, and they help to

         23  naturally filter waste and toxins from our waters.

         24                 So, just a quick background.

         25                 Parks currently manages approximately
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          2  1,000 acres of land around Jamaica Bay. More than

          3  half of that concentrated at Marine Park in

          4  Brooklyn, the site of our salt marsh nature center.

          5                 When I appeared before the

          6  Environmental Protection Committee last October, I

          7  described a number of projects that were designed to

          8  improve Jamaica Bay. So, briefly, again, let me just

          9  mention the list.

         10                 Gerritsen Creek. The ecological

         11  restoration project at Gerritsen Creek is a $6

         12  million collaboration with the Army Corps of

         13  Engineers to improve more than 35 acres of tidal

         14  wetland and maritime grasslands at Marine Park.

         15                 Four Sparrow Marsh. This is a

         16  recently restored 67-acre tidal salt marsh near the

         17  intersection of Flatbush Avenue and the Belt

         18  Parkway. We completed final work on this $800,000

         19  habitat improvement project last year, reclaiming

         20  almost 3.5 acres of wetlands area that has become a

         21  dumping ground for more than 5,000 cubic yards of

         22  old car batteries, debris, and garbage that were

         23  just clogging the life out of that marsh.

         24                 Planning for other restoration

         25  projects around Jamaica Bay, which you're already
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          2  aware of, continues at Vernam Barbadoes, Dubos

          3  Point, Idlewild Preserve near JFK and Spring Creek.

          4  And we are in design collaboration with DEP at

          5  Paedergat Basin, as you've heard, which will include

          6  both the restoration of tidal marshes and associated

          7  uplands.

          8                 Now, the key goals of all these

          9  projects are to increase tidal flushing and habitat

         10  diversity, improve water quality, protect existing

         11  wetlands and restore a healthy habitat, all aspects

         12  of the watershed planning proposed by Intro. 565.

         13                 We appreciate the Council's interest

         14  in Jamaica Bay and its commitment to preserving and

         15  restoring wetlands throughout the City.

         16                 Parks has long recognized the value

         17  and importance of the City's wetlands and

         18  waterfronts. As you've heard, many of the projects

         19  we have undertaken, both independently and with

         20  other agencies, address the aspects of this

         21  watershed plan that's proposed by the Intro. 565.

         22                 I would also like to provide you with

         23  some historical background at this point about

         24  estuaries in our region, and to place Jamaica Bay

         25  further in context, plus to highlight the elements
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          2  of Intro. 565 which are already in place.

          3                 As I say, to begin at the beginning,

          4  it's important to mention our neighbor. North

          5  America's largest estuary, Chesapeake Bay,

          6  encompasses a watershed area of approximately 64,000

          7  square miles, across six states including New York.

          8                 In 1983, three of those states,

          9  Virginia, Maryland, and Pennsylvania, along with the

         10  district of Columbia, the Chesapeake Bay Commission,

         11  and the United States Environmental Protection

         12  Agency, signed a landmark Chesapeake Bay Agreement

         13  to improve the quality of the waters flowing into

         14  that bay.

         15                 They were later joined by the

         16  so-called "Headwater Partners," who are Delaware,

         17  West Virginia and ourselves, New York, in 1988.

         18                 The Chesapeake Bay became the

         19  Nation's first estuary targeted for restoration and

         20  since then it has continued to serve as a model for

         21  dozens of other estuary clean-ups around the nation,

         22  including Monteray Bay and California, Puget Sound

         23  up to Washington and our own Long Island Sound and

         24  what I'll mention in more detail shortly, the New

         25  York/New Jersey Harbor Estuary.
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          2                 In 1988, Connecticut, New York and

          3  the EPA came together to formally include Long

          4  Island Sound with the National Estuary Program. As

          5  an estuary of national significance, the partners

          6  committed to develop a comprehensive conservation

          7  and management plan, what's called a CCMP, for the

          8  Sound.

          9                 In 1994, the Long Island Sound

         10  Agreement was signed to implement that CCMP. And

         11  then most recently in December of 2002, the partners

         12  executed a further agreement adding 30 new goals on

         13  targets to restore the sound, including, by the way,

         14  a 58 percent reduction in the total enriched load of

         15  nitrogen and during the sound from point and

         16  non-point sources.

         17                 Now, I mention this obviously in

         18  regard to the common issue of nitrogen reduction in

         19  both Long Island Sound and Jamaica Bay, as well as

         20  other estuaries.

         21                 A CCMP, again, the comprehensive plan

         22  similar to the above example is already in place for

         23  Jamaica Bay.

         24                 In 1988, the New York New Jersey

         25  Harbor Estuary was designated again as an estuary of
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          2  national significance by the EPA, in response to a

          3  request by the Governor's of New York and New

          4  Jersey.

          5                 The Harbor Estuary Program or HEP, as

          6  it's known, encompasses almost 16,300 square miles,

          7  a watershed of similar size as Long Island Sound

          8  that includes the waters of New York Harbor, and

          9  importantly, the tidally-influenced portions of all

         10  rivers and streams that empty into the harbor.

         11                 This prominently includes Jamaica

         12  Bay.

         13                 HEP, like its counterparts elsewhere

         14  around the country was created as a partnership of

         15  federal, state and local governments, scientists,

         16  civic and environmental advocates, as well as

         17  businesses, labor leaders, educators, even the

         18  fishing community.

         19                 It's mission was to develop its own

         20  plan to protect and restore the Harbor Estuary,

         21  including Jamaica Bay. And at CCMP or Comprehensive

         22  Plan, now focuses on five priority management areas,

         23  critical to the ecosystem, as well as the human

         24  usage of the estuary, and those areas are habitat

         25  loss and degradation, toxic contamination, pathogen
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          2  contamination, floatable debris and nutrient and

          3  organic enrichment.

          4                 So, as you can see, many of the

          5  elements of the watershed plan called for by Intro.

          6  565 are already targeted by HEP.

          7                 Intro. 565 also requires that the

          8  City develop a protocol for coordination with

          9  federal and state government entities that have

         10  jurisdiction over Jamaica Bay.

         11                 There are more than 25 local state

         12  and federal agencies with some jurisdictional

         13  responsibility in this area.

         14                 Many of these agencies are

         15  represented on committees within the harbor estuary

         16  organization, as is a stand-alone Citizens Advisory

         17  Committee.

         18                 However, parks is committed to

         19  improving coordination among the agencies and other

         20  interested parties.

         21                 In fact, last year Commissioner

         22  Benepe organized a meeting with the representatives

         23  of the National Park Service, State Park and City

         24  Parks. The trumberate (phonetic) or for the

         25  Chairman, the trinity of parks agencies in New York
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          2  City.

          3                 We were also joined by two newer park

          4  entities, the Hudson River Park Trust and Brooklyn

          5  Bridge Park Development Corporation. But the mission

          6  was to coordinate strategies on common issues

          7  including Jamaica Bay.

          8                 We plan to make this meeting an

          9  annual event, and look forward to having another

         10  meeting this summer.

         11                 I'd like to now address Intro. 566

         12  and the City's wetlands. Given their importance,

         13  Parks is committed to protecting the wetlands

         14  currently under our jurisdiction, and to acquire

         15  additional wetlands.

         16                 The City and the Parks Department

         17  have an outstanding track record preserving fragile

         18  wetlands and the associated uplands to protect them.

         19                 We often cooperate with other City

         20  agencies to preserve targeted natural areas within

         21  the City landscape.

         22                 The 1987 Buffer the Bay Report

         23  identified a number of parcels around Jamaica Bay as

         24  open space opportunities. With the help of various

         25  City agencies, all of those major sites identified
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          2  by the report have been acquired or transferred to

          3  parks.

          4                 As a result of DEP's efforts, Spring

          5  Creek and Fresh Creek, both on the north side of

          6  Jamaica Bay were again transferred to Parks, and

          7  with the support of EDC, Sanitation, EDC and DCAS,

          8  numerous sites on the south side of the bay,

          9  including Edgemere, Vernam, Barbadoes, Brants Point

         10  and Dubos Point are now under Parks' jurisdiction.

         11  And as you heard earlier in my testimony, are

         12  actively being considered to restoration work.

         13                 As a result of the joint hearing with

         14  the Council's Environmental Protection Committee and

         15  the Waterfront Committee in June of 2003, four

         16  additional parcels were transferred to Parks from

         17  other City agencies, including Old Place Creek in

         18  Staten Island, Udall's Ravine in Queens, Paedergat

         19  Basin in Brooklyn and the Locust Point Marina in the

         20  Bronx.

         21                 So, as you can see, Parks is

         22  committed to preserving and protecting wetlands,

         23  even while recognizing that there are competing

         24  needs in New York's limited open space. Balancing

         25  the City's priorities for natural areas, as well as
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          2  additional housing, transportation centers,

          3  infrastructure, and economic development

          4  opportunities, is difficult. However, often these

          5  competing needs are not mutually exclusive.

          6                 Working closely with our sister

          7  agencies, we have often been able to accommodate

          8  other initiatives, while preserving open space.

          9                 Although we appreciate the Council's

         10  interest in protecting in protecting additional

         11  wetlands, the temporary task force proposed by

         12  Intro. 566 would duplicate existing efforts.

         13                 Parks continues to work with other

         14  agencies, organizations and communities to identify

         15  wetlands that could be transferred to our agency.

         16                 And in closing, I would like to thank

         17  you, again, for this opportunity to discuss

         18  watershed planning, estuary management, with both of

         19  your committees, and to clarify the existing

         20  planning initiatives.

         21                 In particular, I would say, again,

         22  too, that the New York New Jersey Harbor Estuary

         23  Program has had Parks' full support from its

         24  inception, and we believe that it provides an

         25  established model to improve the future of estuaries
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          2  such as Jamaica Bay.

          3                 Around the world, the loss of

          4  wetlands and the need to protect the remaining

          5  wetlands is becoming more apparent to people each

          6  year. You may have read in your papers yesterday

          7  that the millennium ecosystem assessment, a

          8  four-year study, designed by international

          9  scientific organizations and many United Nations

         10  agencies was just released.

         11                 This worked by more than 1,300

         12  scientists from 95 nations, really the largest ever

         13  performed, carries the latest warning about wetlands

         14  loss among other global and subglobal assessments.

         15                 However, the loss of wetlands in the

         16  New York metropolitan area is already plainly

         17  evident. Parks will continue to protect valuable

         18  wetlands within the City Parks system.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         21  you both for your comprehensive testimony.

         22                 Before I get to a question, I wanted

         23  to recognize that we're joined by Council Member

         24  DeBlasio from Brooklyn. We were joined by Council

         25  Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, who had to go to
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          2  another meeting. I should have recognized her when

          3  she was here. And also I know we're joined by some

          4  NYU journalism students; is that right?

          5                 Could the journalism students raise

          6  your hands. Hi. Write nice things. Okay, very good.

          7  Okay, happy to have you here. You picked a good

          8  hearing to come to.

          9                 Certainly it's wonderful that we have

         10  your two agencies come before us with a whole litany

         11  of great efforts and acronyms and reports and it's

         12  awesome that there is, and I don't mean it in any

         13  kind of flippant way, so much work being done on the

         14  bay by so many people and I think what the attempt

         15  here is -- and I had a whole bunch of detailed

         16  questions I was going to ask, and the staff wants me

         17  to ask, but I'm going to take this to kind of like a

         18  higher level though, and I guess the effort behind

         19  565, the Watershed Protection Plan, is to try to

         20  kind of create some synergy or harmony or better

         21  cooperation or to take all these good efforts and,

         22  you know, weave them together along the lines of

         23  sort of best excellence or whatever. I don't even

         24  know what I'm saying at this point. You're hearing

         25  all this that is going on, and what I can't really
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          2  get at is why I guess 565 -- starting with 565

          3  first, I guess is, you know, Bill thought it wasn't

          4  such a good idea, it's already going on, and Dave

          5  thought it was an okay idea, and you know, encourage

          6  all efforts along this line, but I guess my first

          7  direct question with that sort of set-up is, you

          8  know, why isn't 565 a good idea? You know,

          9  specifically? You know, why is 565 not the right

         10  thing to do. And if it's not the right thing to do,

         11  you know, what ways would you make it into something

         12  that's worthwhile doing? That's my question. I guess

         13  whoever wants to answer that first.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: I

         15  see you looking at me.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         17                 MR. MUELLER: I would certainly not

         18  say that 565 is not a good idea. I think what you've

         19  heard from Commissioner Tweedy and I is that the

         20  aspects of the concern that drives 565 are real,

         21  they're important and they're being dealt with.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, it's good

         23  but not necessary. We don't have to do it because

         24  it's already happening.

         25                 That's okay if that's your statement,
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          2  it's fine. I just want to know what it is.

          3                 MR. TAI: If I may just say, the

          4  reason I added a historical context to my testimony,

          5  too, was to indicate, too, that there was a model

          6  out there that is working. There is not a model out

          7  there that couldn't work better. And we really

          8  appreciate the Council's support and certainly have

          9  appreciate your persistence in looking how to tweak

         10  this animal here and make it work better.

         11                 I think, too, that the testimony here

         12  and your background information will make it's way

         13  to the HEP Management Committee, I'm sure, and that

         14  we will see improvement in the coming years and with

         15  continued protocols that are in place.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, Dave, 565.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: I

         18  think everyone supports the goals inherent in 565.

         19  And there are several concerns that I also think are

         20  legitimate.

         21                 One is that there are ongoing

         22  activities, some of which are occurring under legal

         23  mandates that if we're not careful about imposing

         24  new initiatives, could get in the way of the

         25  momentum of those activities. And I mention in
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          2  particular for our agency, the need to continually

          3  improve the water quality in Jamaica Bay, which is

          4  one component, but I believe there is some consensus

          5  that marshland loss, there are a number of

          6  contributors. And we are focused as an agency on the

          7  critical need of continually improving the water

          8  quality in the harbor and are focused on that with

          9  our regulatory oversight agencies.

         10                 So that anything that would then

         11  confuse or get in the way of the momentum of that

         12  would be a concern to us.

         13                 That is by no means to say that what

         14  you're suggesting happens here is not a good goal.

         15                 And, so, it's similar to what Bill is

         16  saying in the sense that the HEP Program is also an

         17  ongoing effort with a lot of parties at the table,

         18  and, remember, we don't control as City agencies the

         19  overall jurisdiction and activities. We are

         20  participants, so to come in and attempt to impose

         21  this approach to something could potentially,

         22  instead of being a constructive overlay, get in the

         23  way of ongoing work. I think that's really the

         24  concern here. Not, oh, you suggested something that

         25  makes no sense. Absolutely it makes sense.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We're here to

          3  try to help. And we want to propose things that are

          4  a good idea. This is a proposal which we've vetted

          5  with a lot of people in the environmental community

          6  and have worked long and hard on it and certainly

          7  we'll be hearing from them.

          8                 I would encourage people who testify

          9  after this panel to take these folks testimony into

         10  consideration and let me know your views and their

         11  views.

         12                 So, I just want to try to engage you

         13  on why this is or isn't a good idea, and I got that

         14  from you.

         15                 Now, with regard to 566, Bill, you

         16  talked a little bit about the transfer to some

         17  parcels to the Parks, you've already done some of

         18  that, you're doing more of that. I know that there

         19  was a letter that went from us to you back in 2003,

         20  because you mentioned that you picked up some

         21  parcels back in 2003 after our hearing, you didn't

         22  take all of them or whatever.

         23                 Just another thought from you, if you

         24  would, on 566. If we came to you and said, look, we

         25  really want to move 566 forward. We want to work
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          2  with you on that, like what would be, you know, your

          3  major concerns that you bring to the table in that

          4  negotiations, 566, what would those be?

          5                 MR. TAI: Again, Mr. Chair, a little

          6  bit of history to you --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Not too much

          8  though.

          9                 MR. TAI: Not too much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Again, it was

         11  more than wonderful to hear the great things that

         12  your agency is doing, and I don't want my comments

         13  in any way to minimize the excellent work that goes

         14  in day in and day out, and the enormous amount of

         15  money that goes behind those efforts, but, you know,

         16  it's a legislative hearing, so I'm trying to figure

         17  out whether these bills are good or bad. And, so,

         18  566.

         19                 MR. TAI: What I was going to mention

         20  in the historical context is the inventory of

         21  wetlands that are available to the City. Both the

         22  HEP Program, Parks, every time we've looked at

         23  wetlands, we've looked at prioritizing the wetlands

         24  that can be protected. And, so, there have been a

         25  number of iterations, too, of looking at what the

                                                            47

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  highest priority wetland acquisitions are, and but I

          3  tried to again address in my testimony to you is

          4  many and almost all of those high value parcels have

          5  been transferred over for protection. That's not to

          6  say that there are not more parcels out there. But

          7  as you begin to look into the larger inventory of

          8  parcels, we do have some concerns, too, about in

          9  general the City acquiring parcels that will have to

         10  investigate for contamination for brownfields

         11  considerations and so forth to do extra testing of

         12  parcels that have the potential to be, because they

         13  weren't high priority sites to begin with, the

         14  dirtier sites, and the sites that don't have the

         15  connectivity the original sites had, or the size

         16  even to encourage wetlands productivity.

         17                 The difference between a  0.1 acre

         18  parcel and a 50 acre parcel is what I'll point out

         19  at this point.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         21                 So, what's the process now by which,

         22  briefly, by which parcels come into your control?

         23  Like how does that happen? So, if we were not to do

         24  566, based on the notion that, you know, there

         25  already are parcels coming into your control, you
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          2  know, how does that process work and why is that

          3  process sufficient to such an extent that we don't

          4  need 566? Briefly.

          5                 MR. TAI: It's both an agency-driven

          6  process and a very much a grassroots process. I

          7  think many people who will testify today have helped

          8  in the process of identifying wetlands and their

          9  neighborhoods that they can bring to the

         10  Department's attention, as well as our scrutiny of

         11  open space, not only wetlands but other open space

         12  all across the City, whether it's City-owned or

         13  privately owned. So there are multiple tracks going

         14  on and your body has certainly brought our attention

         15  to certain parcels, and as I've testified, those

         16  have come over because we've certainly agreed across

         17  the Board that they needed to come over for

         18  protection.

         19                 But, again, I can envision us looking

         20  at a parcel and deciding that it doesn't meet the

         21  appropriate criteria, that the parcel might not be

         22  suitable and that's the thing to keep in mind. We

         23  agree with the Intro in concept. In practice we

         24  would have a few reservations, we'd be happy to work

         25  with the Council on trying to work out some of those
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          2  reservations.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

          4  your support of Intro. 566. We've got that done.

          5                 I tricked you. We're joined by

          6  Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr. I'm happy to have

          7  you here.

          8                 I just got some more quick items for

          9  Commissioner Tweedy.

         10                 We had talked about the possibility

         11  off the Fountain Avenue and Pennsylvania Avenue

         12  site, we had talked privately a little while ago

         13  about the possibility to do some wetlands

         14  restoration at the southern edges of those landfill

         15  remediation projects, and we had discussed on kind

         16  of a cursory level, you know, whether or not that

         17  kind of effort might make its way into the budget

         18  this year, and have you had a chance to think about

         19  that?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: The

         21  Commissioner and I are studying that with our

         22  engineers, and we will report back to you formally

         23  on that within several weeks.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We think it's an

         25  interesting idea and we'd like to look at that in

                                                            50

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  cooperation with Parks.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. I thank

          4  you for your consideration of that, and I'm still

          5  very bullish on that. I think that would be a good

          6  thing.

          7                 So, I am going to come back for some

          8  more, but I want to recognize Joe Addabbo, who has

          9  some questions.

         10                 So, Council Member Addabbo.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Chairman Gennaro and also Chairperson Foster. Thank

         13  you very much. Both committees and both staffs are

         14  acknowledging the importance of Jamaica Bay which

         15  sits smack dab in the middle of the southern part of

         16  my district. And I want to thank DEP and Department

         17  of Parks also for their efforts in protecting

         18  Jamaica Bay. It is a very important, both

         19  environmental and community issue for the

         20  surrounding areas of Broad Channel, Rockaway, Howard

         21  Beach, so forth. And also I will just take a moment

         22  to acknowledge a couple of people I see in the

         23  audience for their dedication. I want to thank them

         24  and Don Riepe and Dan Mundy, again, for their long

         25  dedication into the area. Thank you, gentlemen. And
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          2  Dave Abram, from National Park Service, I want to

          3  thank them as well.

          4                 And, again, for your time and

          5  testimony, I do appreciate it. Just a couple of

          6  quick questions here. Down in Rockaway, just outside

          7  of our district there is about 2,300 new units

          8  coming up. It's a new community being built, Arverne

          9  By The Sea. With these 2,300 new units, we're

         10  talking possibly four- to six-thousand new residents

         11  in Rockaway, which is quite unique when you have

         12  that kind of community, that kind of housing

         13  development being done in the City. What kind of

         14  impact would that four- to six-thousand new people

         15  over the course of a year to two years have on

         16  Jamaica Bay?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

         18  It's an excellent question, and not only for Jamaica

         19  Bay but fast development occurring in Queens,

         20  Northern Queens now. The west side development

         21  issues everybody has been party to, all cause

         22  concern at DEP in terms of our long-term planning

         23  around our sewer and water operations.

         24                 I'll answer your question by saying

         25  that Doug Greeley, our Deputy Commissioner who is in
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          2  charge of all in-city water and sewer operations,

          3  have been meeting and having planning sessions with

          4  all the developers of that project and others in the

          5  area, and we're satisfied that we're there early

          6  enough to understand the impact of these projects

          7  and are making plans in our capital programming work

          8  to anticipate what the burden will be on our system.

          9                 I'll be happy as a follow-up to this,

         10  to set up a briefing for you, much like we've had

         11  with other local elected, to sort of take them

         12  through the process of how that's working.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Commissioner,

         14  I appreciate that, and I also commend the work of

         15  Doug Greeley, who has worked very well with my

         16  office as well, but I would appreciate a follow-up,

         17  that would be most helpful.

         18                 Department of Parks, again, I also

         19  appreciate your efforts, as well. In your testimony

         20  you had given a number of projects, Gerritsen Creek,

         21  Four Sparrow or Salt Marsh, do you have any time

         22  line on some of these?

         23                 I know, for instance, Four Sparrow,

         24  you do some type of time line I believe, but do you

         25  have any time line here that the Department of Parks
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          2  is working on?

          3                 MR. TAI: Four Sparrow time line is

          4  easy to come back on because it's done, it was

          5  completed last year, too. We're hoping to have a

          6  ribbon cutting this year. And as just a final icing

          7  on the cake, too, there will be a joint clean-up at

          8  Four Sparrow Marsh, an Earth Day Clean Up that will

          9  involve the community, and the American Literal

         10  Society, Don Riepe, as you mentioned, and National

         11  Oceanographic and Atmospheric Association, too. So,

         12  it's our commitment to maintain some of the areas

         13  that we restore, too.

         14                 As far as Gerritsen, I'm pleased that

         15  you brought it up and frustrated, too, that because

         16  of continued budget constraints, too, that the Army

         17  Corps has informed us that Gerritsen Creek will at

         18  least be pushed back to Fiscal Year 2006. We're

         19  hoping to be given planting at Gerritsen and have

         20  construction work start there that will

         21  unfortunately involve a delay of at least a year.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And the other

         23  plans at Dubos Point, Idlewild Preserve, they're all

         24  ongoing as well?

         25                 MR. TAI: They're all ongoing. I'd say
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          2  they're all in design phase. There's not one among

          3  that group that's ready for construction, but that's

          4  the next phase, though, and I'd say Dubos Point and

          5  Idlewild are the next two -- I mentioned two,

          6  there's another Army Corps collaboration under their

          7  ecosystem restoration project at Spring Creek, at

          8  Queens, and that would certainly be the next in line

          9  as far as the Army Corps goes and Jamaica Bay area.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: In

         11  acknowledging your concerns over Intro. 566 and the

         12  wetlands being transferred to the Department of

         13  Parks, I am very concerned with that issue,

         14  obviously. In Broad Channel there are many issues of

         15  wetland properties, and I have had discussions with

         16  Department of Parks in taking over those properties.

         17  Are there any current plans, I know you have done

         18  work in the past in adopting properties, wetlands,

         19  are there any current plans to look at these

         20  wetlands properties on a case-by-case basis and

         21  hopefully adopting them under the Parks and

         22  Recreation jurisdiction; are there any current

         23  plans?

         24                 MR. TAI: Not current plans, but

         25  activities.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And which

          3  properties may they be?

          4                 MR. TAI: It's been within the last

          5  month or so.

          6                 I think you're aware, too, that DCAS

          7  was moving forward on the auction of a number of

          8  City parcels there in the Broad Channel area earlier

          9  last year and someone brought this to our attention,

         10  as well as some of the local community, and it was

         11  the Parks Department who visited the area and took a

         12  look at some of the, again, smaller isolated

         13  parcels. We were trying to be also constructive in

         14  looking at the possibilities of acquiring these

         15  parcels, but also acquiring them in concert with the

         16  community. Looking at memorandums of understanding,

         17  or a friends group that could help us maintain a

         18  parcel, and we think that has real viability in the

         19  future of acquiring parcels but also acquiring

         20  friends at the same time, the community input, the

         21  community involvement, the community help, in

         22  maintaining what's already a very stretched

         23  maintenance operation that we have at Parks.

         24                 We certainly are actively looking at

         25  things that have come before us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes, those

          3  properties that were taken out of the sale from

          4  DCAS, it was a cooperative effort between DCAS, the

          5  Department of Parks and the community, and we

          6  appreciate your efforts there, and, again, I look

          7  forward to a continued discussion and dialogue on

          8  those properties, because I think under the

          9  jurisdiction of parks they would be protected,

         10  maintained and, again, kept for the beautification

         11  of the community.

         12                 So, I appreciate any further

         13  discussions on those properties as well.

         14                 Since we are at the beginning of the

         15  Fiscal Year '06 budget process, I'd like to ask DEP

         16  and Department of Parks, what current funding do you

         17  have right now in the Fiscal Year '05, if you have

         18  those numbers? And what funding are you looking for

         19  in Fiscal Year '06, in relation to Jamaica Bay, in

         20  the work that needs to be done to protect those

         21  areas?

         22                 MR. TAI: Councilman, I can say with

         23  some pride, but also a little bit of frustration,

         24  too, that the great portion of our budget for

         25  restoration work in Jamaica Bay is actually not from
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          2  the City budget. We've been very successful in

          3  obtaining partners, whether they're federal, New

          4  York State Clean Air, Clean Water Bond Act,

          5  Environmental Protection Fund, and most recently our

          6  very close partners with the Army Corps of Engineers

          7  and their eco-system restoration program.

          8                 We tend to try and leverage what

          9  money we have. We've also been the recipient of some

         10  largesse from the Council to supporting restoration

         11  projects. Those are typically the seed to the local

         12  share for what is a leveraged project.

         13                 To give an example, Gerritsen Creek

         14  is a $6 million project, total cost, but the City's

         15  share, which is actually a Bond Act Grant from the

         16  New York State Clean Air, Clean Water Bond Act, is

         17  only $650,000. So the leverage factor there was a

         18  factor of ten. And, so, we're looking forward to

         19  identifying those kind of opportunities, and having

         20  those opportunities funded in the future. And,

         21  again, we work with the Mayor's DC office in regards

         22  to helping our partners to maintain their budgets so

         23  that they can help us.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: In

         25  the current capital program, and coming in this
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          2  year, we will have $100 million that's been expended

          3  at the Jamaica Plant, one phase of a multi-phased

          4  $300 million project. We talked earlier about the

          5  Paedergat Bay project, it's a $180 million project.

          6  We estimate that both past projects, and I mean near

          7  term history, and our current capital program,

          8  there's about $2 billion in total being spent that's

          9  geared towards the Jamaica Bay area, and that

         10  includes CSO projects, that projects at our plants,

         11  as well as the ongoing sewer and drainage

         12  improvement programs.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: If I may,

         14  just how does that breakdown in Fiscal Year '05 when

         15  you're looking for Fiscal Year '06?

         16                 FIRS DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

         17  Again, the big projects from a capital point of view

         18  that are hitting in Fiscal '06, are $100 million for

         19  Jamaica, and the ongoing, although it was awarded

         20  earlier, will spend a good piece of the $180 million

         21  on Paerdegat. Those are the big ticket items. I can

         22  get you a further detailed breakdown.

         23                 We also have, we estimate, about 330

         24  staff members that work either at those four

         25  wastewater treatment plants, or in Doug Greeley's
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          2  water and sewer operations, and the pumping station

          3  operations that are focused exclusively on the

          4  Jamaica Bay environment. So, that annual operating

          5  cost is obviously a significant one.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 Again, my office looks forward to

          9  continuing the work with the agencies and with the

         10  community and what we have to do to protect Jamaica

         11  Bay. And, again, to work with my colleagues, it's

         12  always a pleasure, especially during the budget

         13  process as we fight for additional funding for such

         14  an important situation, both to the environment and

         15  to the community.

         16                 If I may, again, it was an oversight,

         17  if I may be added to Intro. 565, the Watershed Plan.

         18  I added myself to the others, but 565, if I can add

         19  my name and my support to Intro. 565, I'd appreciate

         20  it.

         21                 Thank you, again, for your time and

         22  testimony. Thank you.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Addabbo.

          3                 I'm also happy that we're joined by

          4  Council Member Recchia, a valued member of this

          5  Committee. Thank you for being here, Councilman

          6  Recchia.

          7                 I just want to follow up on what

          8  Council Member Addabbo was saying with regard to the

          9  creative cooperation that we seek with regard to

         10  bringing lands under protection of Parks, and I did

         11  make -- you made a reference in your statement to

         12  parcels that were brought in to your control after

         13  our hearing in 2003. But that came about due to a

         14  letter that we issued after that hearing to the

         15  Mayor and it was from Joe, who was then Chair of the

         16  Parks Committee, David Yassky, Chair of the

         17  Waterfront and myself, Chair of this Committee, and,

         18  you know, it went to everybody, the Mayor, Deputy

         19  Mayor, all the relevant commissioners and we had a

         20  listing of 20 properties there that we thought would

         21  be good prospects for Parks' control, and we asked

         22  for a written response about the status of the

         23  property and what future plans and what kind of

         24  consideration they would be given.

         25                 And you know, four of the 20 did make
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          2  it under your control but we never really heard

          3  about any of the others, nor did we ever get like a

          4  formal response to the letter.

          5                 So, I think that I'm not citing this

          6  to be petty, I'm just trying to figure out a process

          7  by which we can have the counter dialogue or

          8  whatever that Joe was talking about, that I'm

          9  talking about, that Helen is talking about that was

         10  sort of set forth in this letter, which we're trying

         11  to make happen. You know, notwithstanding everyone's

         12  best efforts. So, of the 20 we got four in, don't

         13  know the status of the other 16. Your formal

         14  communication between this Committee and the

         15  Bloomberg Administration.

         16                 So, again, I don't mention it to be

         17  petty, but we're just trying to sort of strike the

         18  best paradigm that we possibly can for getting the

         19  appropriate land under the control of Parks. We

         20  think 566 does that and so we'll continue to think

         21  about that. If you have a response or a comment,

         22  that's fine, otherwise we can just let it --

         23                 MR. TAI: It's just a bit of a

         24  surprise. I wasn't aware that we hadn't responded.

         25  We want to be responsive.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, because we

          3  still have those other 16 properties that are still

          4  on the letter, and we can make a copy of the letter

          5  available to you.

          6                 Look, you know, you guys are busy,

          7  you're out there saving the day every day and we

          8  appreciate everything that you're doing. We don't

          9  mean for a minute to sort of undermind or cast

         10  aspirations on the good work that you do day in and

         11  day out. But, you know, really the best, we don't

         12  want that, and this is why we're pushing these

         13  things, and then we'll hear what the other folks

         14  have to say on 566, 565 and the TMDL reso.

         15                 Council Member Foster has a question

         16  or a comment, but as far as I'm concerned I'm done

         17  with my questioning of this panel, and I'll take

         18  this opportunity to once again thank you for your

         19  diligent efforts on behalf of Jamaica Bay and

         20  appreciate your bringing all of your team with you.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I want to also

         23  add my thanks and say that I am very interested in

         24  hearing more testimony, so most of my questions I

         25  probably will follow-up in writing, just because I
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          2  want to make sure that I fully understand the

          3  issues. And I appreciate the way you have expressed

          4  your concerns with the Intro, and I think there is

          5  room for collaboration and negotiation to make it a

          6  win/win situation because at its core we all have

          7  the same basic concern, and how we get to preserving

          8  and making sure the necessary agencies and charge

          9  and so forth and so on can be worked out. So, thank

         10  you so much for your testimony.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         12  Appreciate you being here today.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

         14  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And the next

         16  witness, I'd like to call forward Al Appleton, of

         17  the Regional Plan Association, also former

         18  Commissioner of DEP as everyone knows. And the panel

         19  after Mr. Appleton, with be Dave Avrin, National

         20  Park Service, and Len Houston. I hope I'm saying

         21  that correctly, of the US Army Corps of Engineers.

         22                 Okay, Commissioner, Mr., whatever,

         23  Mr., so happy to have you here. It's been good to

         24  chat with you. It was good to talk with you in the

         25  last couple of days about the proceedings today and
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          2  your views on them, and just, you know, thank you

          3  for all of your good works on behalf of New York's

          4  environment in all the varied things you've done in

          5  so many years to make New York City a better place,

          6  and we really do appreciate your continued activism

          7  on these issues that we find so important. So, thank

          8  you.

          9                 So, if I can ask the Counsel to the

         10  Committee to swear in the witness, after that you

         11  can state your name for the record and proceed with

         12  your testimony.

         13                 MR. KAPLAN: Hi. Do you solemnly swear

         14  or affirm to tell the truth and nothing but the

         15  truth?

         16                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         17                 MR. KAPLAN: State your name for the

         18  record.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You've got to

         20  make the light go off.

         21                 MR. APPLETON: I'm Albert Appleton.

         22  I'm currently a Senior Fellow with the Regional Plan

         23  Association, and a Senior Fellow at the City

         24  University Institute on Urban Systems.

         25                 Mr. Chairman, Madam Chairwoman, I'm
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          2  very pleased to be here before this Committee. I

          3  want to commend them for your initiative in

          4  addressing these issues. These are critical issues,

          5  and this is a critical time for them.

          6                 I would like to open by saying, I

          7  thought of opening by saying this is a critical time

          8  for the physical environment of New York, but it's

          9  always a critical time for the physical environment

         10  of New York, and what makes this time, though,

         11  perhaps more critical is that we are happily in the

         12  middle of a real estate boom, but the effect of this

         13  real estate boom is to push the price of vacant land

         14  out 20, 30 percent a year over the last several

         15  years, and it's greatly increased the development

         16  pressure on the remaining natural parcels in the

         17  City.

         18                 So, the inventory of City land is

         19  really a very critical component, preserving what's

         20  left to the physical environment of New York City.

         21                 Now, from the two agencies, we heard

         22  an awful lot of good news, and I want to commend the

         23  agencies, particularly my old Department of

         24  Environmental Protection, for the leadership they

         25  are showing on these issues.
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          2                 That's a very exciting program we saw

          3  about Jamaica Bay put up on the wall, I want to urge

          4  the Department to press forward with that as quickly

          5  as possible and to say that I'm sure they're going

          6  to have the support of all the stakeholders around

          7  Jamaica Bay.

          8                 Having said that, I have to say that

          9  the bad news is these problems are still getting

         10  worse. We are still losing wetlands at an

         11  unacceptable rate around Jamaica Bay, we're still

         12  developing dealing with adverse developmental

         13  consequences. The western short of Staten Island is

         14  almost a free fire zone for development, so that

         15  whatever we're doing, we're not yet doing enough.

         16  So, there's definitely a role for the Council to be

         17  considering these pieces of legislation, and to be

         18  playing its oversight role in looking at how we cab

         19  spur forward these efforts.

         20                 Now, let me begin by talking about

         21  Intro. 566, the inventory bill. Frankly, the only

         22  thing wrong with this bill is it's not ambitious

         23  enough. That is, we have some extremely good

         24  inventories of land that ought to be saved. We can

         25  go back to the original Buffer The Bay in Harland
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          2  Herin's report, we can go back to the updates of

          3  those reports, we can go back to the work RPA has

          4  done and is doing on the third regional plan and on

          5  the Harbor Estuary Program, we can go back to the

          6  Needs and Opportunities Report that was created for

          7  the Army Corps of Engineers, and we can go back to

          8  the habitat working group list of sites. There is an

          9  abundance of information about environmental land

         10  out there. We really do not need a very long

         11  inventory, and the first thing this Committee should

         12  do is designate that all of these inventories should

         13  be incorporated with and evaluated by the Parks

         14  Department in looking at this legislation.

         15                 But the second thing is we should not

         16  just look at wetlands, mapped wetlands. Not only do

         17  mapped wetlands not encompass all wetlands, but they

         18  do not deal with the adjacent areas to wetland, and

         19  they do not deal with areas of that potential to be

         20  restored as wetlands.

         21                 And the wetland base in the harbor

         22  estuary has shrunk so that we need very badly to

         23  consider environmental restoration, and these sites,

         24  too, should be on any inventory list. As they are in

         25  the inventories I had previously referred to.

                                                            68

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 So, we should be casting a much wider

          3  net and we look at this process, and it can be a

          4  much more abbreviated time that the 18 months that

          5  the bill is currently considering.

          6                 The other thing I have to speak to,

          7  is the Parks Department expressed a lot of anxieties

          8  about very small wetlands, about balancing of needs.

          9  I want to take the very small wetland issue first.

         10                 There is probably some place around

         11  the Harbor, a tenth of an acre piece of fragmites,

         12  that in the overall balance of live maybe we

         13  wouldn't miss. But that's probably about the only

         14  example I can think of a small or unimportant

         15  wetland. Every piece of wetland left around this

         16  harbor is important. We've lost so many wetlands and

         17  what is left is so fragmented, and I apologize to

         18  this Council, our network server broke down this

         19  morning, and I was unable to run off either copies

         20  of the testimony, and we have some very good maps

         21  showing this wetland loss that I will submit to this

         22  Committee. These things need to be taken very

         23  seriously.

         24                 As for balancing, balancing is a word

         25  you hear a lot in public life and balancing is
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          2  awfully hard to be against. But frankly, balancing

          3  in this case ought to be understood very properly.

          4                 We have lots of other places we can

          5  build, shopping centers, for which we just ploughed

          6  under 45 acres of irreplaceable habitat. We have

          7  lots of other places we can build self storage,

          8  residential development. We have brownfields, we

          9  have in-fill, we have under-zoned areas, we have

         10  waterfronts like Greenpoint Williamsburg that we are

         11  rezoning. We do not need to use natural habitat for

         12  any of these uses.

         13                 What we need to use natural habitat

         14  for is to preserve the environmental and the livable

         15  quality of the City.

         16                 Yes, there may be an instance where

         17  there is a water-related use that is central to the

         18  economy of the City, but those are not the uses for

         19  which much of this City land has gone.

         20                 I remind the Committee of the great

         21  success of the Staten Island Blue Belt Program in

         22  transferring City-owned parcels and the money it

         23  saved the City and the quality of life it added to

         24  Staten Island. That is the proper balance with which

         25  we should be approaching these issues.
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          2                 Turning to the legislation on Jamaica

          3  Bay. I can understand the agency's reluctance in one

          4  sense about the legislation because they fear it may

          5  be a kind of interference when they're already on

          6  what they think is a good track, and frankly it is a

          7  good track. But the answer to that fear is for the

          8  agency to take the leadership role that the

          9  Department, that this Council envisions for it,

         10  drafting this watershed legislation.

         11                 I think taking that leadership role,

         12  working in partners with the many people in the

         13  civic community who have so much to offer, remember

         14  it was civic leadership that people like Dan Mundy

         15  who originally identified the problem of wetland

         16  loss around Jamaica Bay, that is, in my view, the

         17  right way to address these concerns.

         18                 The Department has a strong and sold

         19  program. They have nothing to fear from sharing this

         20  program with the public.

         21                 I think you are calling on them in

         22  view that many perils Jamaica Bay faces to exert not

         23  something different but even more and faster and

         24  more urgent leadership than they're providing now.

         25  And that's a challenge I hope they will welcome.
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          2                 Now, let me talk a little bit about

          3  some of the components of this watershed plan. So, I

          4  believe some members of this Committee, now having

          5  traded the watershed plan for the city and the

          6  watershed, you know, having consulted on these

          7  nationally and internationally in the last ten

          8  years, have some experience with these things. We

          9  even did a watershed plan for Jamaica Bay when I was

         10  Commissioner, which was aborted after the 1993

         11  election, and I'm sure I don't need to tell you, it

         12  never pays to lose elections. But a watershed plan,

         13  it's very important, is not just a compendium of

         14  everything.

         15                 That is, I appreciate all of the

         16  things the Committee has iterated in its

         17  legislation, but it's very important that a

         18  watershed plan not just be an adding up of every

         19  existing idea, and this in fact is what has been the

         20  problem with watershed planning in much of the

         21  United States.

         22                 That is, instead of becoming a

         23  simplification, a way of innovation, of

         24  concentrating on priorities, of focusing investment,

         25  watershed planning has just become another layer of
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          2  bureaucracy, and that's something I can appreciate

          3  the Department's concerns and anxiety's about,

          4  because they don't need another layer of anxiety.

          5                 What is critically important about a

          6  watershed plan for Jamaica Bay is that it focuses on

          7  the most important environmental needs of the Bay,

          8  that it is willing to say that there are things we

          9  may be doing that are not so important, there are

         10  things we are not doing, even though they're not

         11  legally required we should be doing. It's that kind

         12  of process of focus and of setting priorities.

         13                 And that's the kind of watershed plan

         14  we need for Jamaica Bay.

         15                 Now, what should those priorities be?

         16  I want to draw on some of our experience from ten

         17  years ago.

         18                 The first problem Jamaica bay faces

         19  is that for the amount of people who live around it,

         20  it is a very small body of water to serve as the

         21  receiving basin for so much sewage. Even sewage that

         22  is extremely treated to tertiary levels, is very

         23  sophisticated in every expensive forms, it just may

         24  not be physically possible to meet clean water

         25  standards while continuing to discharge all of the
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          2  sewage directly into Jamaica Bay.

          3                 Moreover, we have the additional

          4  problem of new discharges coming into Jamaica Bay

          5  from new developments on Rockaway and others that

          6  Councilman Addabbo referred to.

          7                 So, we need to think about different

          8  approaches. We need to give the Department some room

          9  to look at issues that they are looking at, such as

         10  taking the sewage effluent out of Jamaica Bay and

         11  into deep outfalls in the Atlantic where it can be

         12  absorbed.

         13                 And the only thing I would urge the

         14  Department in considering that, to also consider

         15  whether or not we should begin to capture some of

         16  the stormwater flows from new developments like the

         17  Rockaways that are now being funneled into the

         18  estuary site of Jamaica Bay.

         19                 The other thing we learned about

         20  Jamaica Bay is that the natural habitat of Jamaica

         21  Bay is crucial to its functioning.

         22                 Now, what was the original natural

         23  habitat to Jamaica Bay? There are two critical facts

         24  here. First of all, it had an irregular wetland

         25  lined shore line. This was the original inspiration,
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          2  in fact, of the Buffer The Bay Project, which we did

          3  at Audubon in the eighties.

          4                 Not just the wetlands in the center

          5  and the open water, but preserving a shoreline with

          6  as many wetlands as possible, and with as soft and

          7  as regular a configuration, is very critical. The

          8  maps show that there are an enormous number of small

          9  particles owned around Jamaica Bay, particularly

         10  where there's still soft shorelines. Those soft

         11  shorelines, even if they're small, even if they're

         12  tiny, need to be gotten into protected preserve

         13  public position.

         14                 The other thing we need to do is we

         15  need to think about shallowing the Bay. And to

         16  return it to its kind of natural ecologic dynamics.

         17                 It is important to remember that

         18  nature likes what nature did. If you go back to

         19  areas that are filled a hundred years, and if they

         20  are left alone and if the bulkhead breaks down, you

         21  will see the wetlands slowly recreating themselves

         22  in the same places they exist a hundred years ago.

         23  These are natural ecological dynamics that create

         24  these situations.

         25                 The best thing to do at Jamaica Bay
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          2  is to restore as many of those natural ecological

          3  dynamics as are feasible given that there's now two

          4  and a half million people living around it.

          5                 And I would like to say something at

          6  this point about the search for "the cause of," you

          7  know, these shrinking wetlands.

          8                 Basically the cause is a damaged and

          9  dysfunctional environment. Within them there are a

         10  bunch of specific factors that are creating more or

         11  less, but I strongly urge that part of this

         12  watershed planning should be to put less emphasis on

         13  searching for the magic bullet solution, and more

         14  emphasis on just getting nature back in charge in

         15  the bay as quickly as possible by restoring as much

         16  of the natural ecosystem dynamics as we can as

         17  quickly as possible.

         18                 Lastly, I would like to say, one

         19  other thing needs to be into this watershed plan,

         20  which is the greenhouse effect, what is now called

         21  global warming or ocean rise.

         22                 Jamaica Bay is extremely vulnerable

         23  to the potentialities of ocean rise, and the

         24  Rockaways, frankly, even more so.

         25                 We need to provide room in our future
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          2  planning for Jamaica Bay for wetlands to retreat.

          3  This is going to be a difficult problem, given how

          4  much of the north shore of Jamaica Bay has to be

          5  bulkheaded and armored.

          6                 The place to think about providing

          7  this space is on the restoration of the landfills;

          8  that is, the three landfills, Fountain, Penn and

          9  Edgemere, have an enormous potential shoreline. That

         10  shoreline needs to be recontoured and restored in a

         11  way, and people like Paul Mankiewicz can talk more

         12  about this, that gives that room for wetland

         13  retreat, for wetland growth, in places where we

         14  otherwise do not have it.

         15                 So, the important issues for the

         16  watershed plan are:

         17                 A natural ecosystem-based

         18  restoration, and dealing with the limitations, the

         19  intrinsic limitations that Jamaica Bay may have in

         20  terms of its water volume, and tidal dynamics,

         21  without absorbing tidal flow.

         22                 Now, before I move on to the reso,

         23  I'd just like to make one other comment about some

         24  of the concerns raised about the watershed plan.

         25                 It was suggested that the HEP process
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          2  was a suitable alternative to a watershed plan for

          3  Jamaica Bay. I strongly disagree with that

          4  conclusion for two reasons:

          5                 First of all, the crisis and wetlands

          6  at Jamaica Bay is the single biggest ecological

          7  problem we face in the harbor estuary at the moment,

          8  and that's saying a lot, given the many ecological

          9  problems we face. It deserves its own special

         10  particular focus.

         11                 And secondly, quite frankly, if any

         12  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What was the

         14  first one again? I missed the first one. Just please

         15  go back one item.

         16                 MR. APPLETON: The point I want to

         17  make is that Jamaica Bay is so important and the

         18  problem there is so urgent, it deserves its own

         19  special focus, even if HEP were a well-functioning

         20  program.

         21                 But quite frankly, HEP is a very weak

         22  tool, to this important an issue on.

         23                 The only really -- there are a couple

         24  of components of HEP that function well, that the

         25  components that were referred to by officials from
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          2  DEP and Parks, quite frankly, are not up to this

          3  task. We've seen them for 15 years. They mean well,

          4  but they move too slowly, too bureaucratically, too

          5  fragmentedly, to unadventursomely (phonetic).

          6                 Lastly, let me speak to the reso

          7  about TMDL's for a minute. I'm in the awkward

          8  position, having spent four years battling DEC day

          9  in and day out to strengthen the TMDL's for the

         10  watershed, or having served in years as an expert

         11  witness in a number of litigations to strengthen

         12  TMDLs of saying go slow on this particular TMDL. But

         13  I support the Department in this instance for two

         14  reasons. First of all, it is not possible to reach

         15  the pollution loading in Jamaica Bay by just

         16  discharges into Jamaica Bay, and the TMDL is just a

         17  prescription for endless litigation, endless consent

         18  orders, endless difficulties.

         19                 Second, part of the value of having a

         20  watershed plan, if it's a true watershed plan, is

         21  that it eliminates the need for a lot of this kind

         22  of here, there, everywhere kind of issue

         23  fragmentation and replacement for one unified

         24  strategy. And that's the thing we did very

         25  successfully in the watershed.
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          2                 And, frankly, thirdly, in my

          3  experience with DEC, DEC TMDL's always are skewed

          4  towards point source control, and never put enough

          5  emphasis on non-source control, runoff. And the

          6  reason is that, and this has been a national

          7  problem, I don't want to single out DEC, people who

          8  create TMDL's don't want to deal with Land Use

          9  issues, and if you're going to deal with non-point

         10  source controls, you have to deal with land use.

         11                 It's far better to have a coherent

         12  watershed plan on the schedule you're laying out,

         13  the DEP is laying out to do this.

         14                 Frankly, lastly, I would just say

         15  that DEP is on a schedule of October 2006 for DEC,

         16  it would be useful to extend your deadline of

         17  October 1st, 2005, which I think, frankly, is

         18  unrealistic, to April 1st, 2006. We put the plan up

         19  for public review and comment in time for it to be

         20  incorporated into the submission that they will be

         21  giving DEC.

         22                 In closing, let me again commend the

         23  Council and thank you for attending. I just mention,

         24  though, that if you want to be in the reso business,

         25  there is a resolution we need very badly around
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          2  Jamaica Bay. It has caused endless mischief around

          3  Jamaica Bay, that the proposals for environmental

          4  restoration suffer under the burden that filling the

          5  borrow pits may be used as a way of disposing toxic

          6  dredge materials.

          7                 We badly need to take the suggestion

          8  that Jamaica Bay is a suitable repository for such

          9  materials off the table. A resolution urging DEC,

         10  the Port Authority and the Corps of Engineers to

         11  take Jamaica Bay off of their list of disposal sites

         12  for dredge materials, would be extremely welcome and

         13  helpful.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Appleton, for your thoughtful testimony. We

         17  certainly look forward to getting that in writing.

         18  And thank you for sending that to us, because we

         19  want to get the benefit of each and every syllable

         20  of what you had to say.

         21                 And, you know, not only that, but we

         22  -- we need your further cooperation with regard to

         23  making these legislative items into bills that will

         24  not create more bureaucracy, not more problems,

         25  actually will remove the bay forward, so the last
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          2  thing we want to do is to create a legislative

          3  bureaucracy and not make things happen. So, we need

          4  your help on that. I know that I can count on that.

          5                 And certainly your recommendation for

          6  a resolution with regard to the pits would be

          7  something that we want to talk to you further about,

          8  consistent with our goal here on this Council, doing

          9  everything we can in a very constructive way, to

         10  help the bay.

         11                 And with that said, I think your

         12  testimony was so comprehensive, that I don't really

         13  have any other questions or comments, other than to

         14  thank you in advance for your testimony and the maps

         15  that you'll be sending us. And to have the

         16  opportunity to speak with you out of a Committee

         17  setting on how we can make these bills the best that

         18  they can be.

         19                 Now, I know that you've already

         20  offered some specific language, I think, but any

         21  other tweaks that we can use, please keep in touch

         22  with us so we can make sure that we weave all of

         23  your views into the legislation.

         24                 MR. APPLETON: I will do that,

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, thank you.

          3  Thank you so much, Mr. Appleton, for all that you've

          4  done and will continue to do on behalf of the bay

          5  and so many other environmental causes.

          6                 Okay, thank you.

          7                 And the next panel, Dave Avrin and

          8  Len Houston.

          9                 Staff reminds me that I failed in my

         10  usual ritual of thanking Chris Manning from the

         11  Mayor's Office for helping us to get these hearings

         12  going. He always helps us with that. Thank you,

         13  Chris. Even does audiovisual work too. And of

         14  course, Charlie Sturcken who does so much day in and

         15  day out.

         16                 When you guys were in high school,

         17  you guys were on AV. Were you one of the AV guys?

         18  When they're teaching the projector, they call like

         19  the AV, like audiovisual, and the guy would bring up

         20  the projector and stuff. They don't have AV anymore?

         21  They don't have that? Okay.

         22                 And the panel to follow this good

         23  panel is my dear friend Larry Swanson from

         24  Stonybrook, my alma mater, and Alexander Brasch and

         25  Criag Obey, from the National Parks Conservation
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          2  Association.

          3                 So, I wish to thank both of you for

          4  being here today, and I appreciate all that you've

          5  done and continue to do for the Bay. And I'll ask

          6  Fredy to swear in the witnesses.

          7                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you solemnly swear or

          8  affirm to tell the truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         10                 MR. KAPLAN: Okay, please state your

         11  name for the record.

         12                 MR. AVRIN: Dave Avrin.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You've got to

         14  make the light go out. When the light goes out the

         15  --

         16                 MR. AVRIN: Dave Avrin, National Park

         17  Service.

         18                 MR. HOUSTON: Leonard Houston, U.S.

         19  Army Corps of Engineers.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, it's a

         21  pleasure to have you both here.

         22                 Dave, your title, Dave, is

         23  superintendent?

         24                 MR. AVRIN: Assistant Superintendent.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Assistant
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          2  superintendent.

          3                 MR. AVRIN: Section of Gateway

          4  National Recreation Area.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Terrific.

          6  Terrific.

          7                 Dave, why don't we start with you. I

          8  appreciate you being here and all that you've done.

          9                 MR. AVRIN: Well, I'm probably the

         10  last person I could say good morning to.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         12                 MR. AVRIN: But Mr. Chairman, and

         13  Madam Chairman, members of the Committee, thank you

         14  for allowing the National Park Service to address

         15  the Committee on these issues.

         16                 My comments will build on testimony

         17  provided by the National Parks Service at two

         18  previous hearings, the first on November 8, 2002,

         19  and the second, last October.

         20                 As presented in those earlier

         21  hearings, the role of the National Park Service at

         22  Gateway NRA is two-fold:

         23                 To protect significant natural and

         24  cultural resources that are located within the park,

         25  and to create high-quality opportunities for people
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          2  to enjoy the national park without impairing the

          3  resources which makes Gateway a special place.

          4                 With respect to our responsibility

          5  for stewardship at Jamaica Bay, the legislation that

          6  established Gateway is even more explicit. It states

          7  that the Secretary of the Interior shall administer

          8  and protect the islands and waters within the

          9  Jamaica Bay Unit with the primary aim of conserving

         10  the natural resources, fish, wildlife located

         11  therein, and shall permit no development use of this

         12  area, which is incompatible with this purpose.

         13                 One of the great challenges we all

         14  face in meeting this mandate is that Jamaica Bay is

         15  a complex place that continues to change almost

         16  daily over time.

         17                 The rapid loss of salt marsh islands

         18  on the interior of the bay is a highly visible

         19  example of the types of changes that are going on in

         20  the bay all the time.

         21                 Fortunately, our understanding of the

         22  natural processes that contribute to such change is

         23  fragmentary, and only partially understood. The

         24  situation is further complicated by the role of

         25  human activity in and around the bay. We know that
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          2  most of Jamaica Bay shoreline has been hardened,

          3  that channel dredging and channel maintenance have

          4  altered the natural flow of water and sedimentation

          5  through the bay, and that much of the fresh water

          6  entering the bay is from wastewater treatment

          7  plants.

          8                 What we do not know is the cumulative

          9  effect of these and many other actions on the

         10  environmental quality -- of these actions on the

         11  environmental vitality and health of Jamaica Bay.

         12                 The good news is that significant

         13  progress is being made towards improved stewardship

         14  of Jamaica Bay. More and more people are coming to

         15  appreciate Jamaica Bay as a great urban treasure,

         16  and with that appreciation they are asking what

         17  needs to be done to care for this special place,

         18  scientists and citizen advocates, universities and

         19  government agencies are all working to answer this

         20  question. Knowledge about Jamaica Bay is constantly

         21  expanding, and access to this information is

         22  steadily improving.

         23                 Equally important, projects are being

         24  developed, implemented and monitored to address high

         25  priority resource issues.
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          2                 The New York City Council, your two

          3  committees and a number of City departments have

          4  played a major role in these efforts. I particularly

          5  would like to recognize the Department of Parks and

          6  recreation, and the Department of Environmental

          7  Protection.

          8                 On behalf of the National Park

          9  Service, I would like to acknowledge these

         10  contributions and thank you.

         11                 I would also like to acknowledge the

         12  contributions of the New York State Department of

         13  Environmental Conservation, the Environmental

         14  Protection Agency, and, of course, the Corps of

         15  Engineers, for their unwaiving dedication to

         16  protection of Jamaica Bay.

         17                 Needless to say, any attempt to list

         18  all of the people, agencies and organizations that

         19  have an interest in Jamaica Bay and who are working

         20  towards appropriate stewardship of this fragile

         21  treasure is bound to leave someone out.

         22                 After all the networks of human

         23  activity that surround bay and that in some

         24  instances seeks to care for the bay are nearly as

         25  complex as the natural systems that occur in the bay
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          2  itself.

          3                 Ultimately, the future of Jamaica Bay

          4  depends on how well human activity in and around the

          5  bay is illuminating by an awareness of long-term

          6  consequences, and are guided by principles of

          7  sustainability, biodiversity and public welfare. In

          8  other words, stewardship of Jamaica Bay requires an

          9  understanding of the bay as a part of the City,

         10  recognition that individual actions directly affect

         11  the bay, and a commitment to pass on a healthy

         12  environment as a birthright to future generations.

         13                 As the primary stewards of Jamaica

         14  Bay, we suggest that any decision affecting Jamaica

         15  Bay, whether directly or indirectly, should consider

         16  the nature of those impacts on the bay, and should

         17  seek to avoid adverse impacts whenever possible.

         18                 We would hope that this process

         19  should be adopted by individuals and institutions,

         20  groups and government agencies.

         21                 We also offer that such deliberations

         22  apply to large issues like urban development, public

         23  transportation, and wastewater treatment, as well as

         24  small scale issues like domestic energy

         25  conservation, and choosing plans for neighborhood
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          2  gardens.

          3                 Jamaica Bay is widely recognized as a

          4  sanctuary for the protection of wildlife and other

          5  natural resources, characterized by salt marshes and

          6  upland islands interspersed with open waters.

          7  Jamaica Bay is home to numerous shellfish and fish

          8  species, as well as reptiles and other amphibians.

          9                 The bay also provides a variety of

         10  habitats for over 300 species of birds and is a

         11  critical stopover along the eastern flyway.

         12                 Jamaica Bay is an important location

         13  for recreational boating and fishing, and is an

         14  inspiration to multitude of visitors, whether they

         15  are simply sitting and listening to the quiet or

         16  capturing the scene with a water color brush.

         17                 Finally, Jamaica Bay is a critical

         18  component in a larger watershed overlapping lands in

         19  Brooklyn, Queens and Nassau County, and looked at

         20  from the water itself, Jamaica Bay is an important

         21  part of a complex regional ecosystem focused on the

         22  Hudson Raritan Estuary.

         23                 In summary, the health of Jamaica Bay

         24  is inextricably tied to the condition of urban life

         25  in the surrounding watershed.
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          2                 In spite of our legislative charge to

          3  care for the bay, the National Park Service cannot

          4  care for Jamaica Bay by itself.

          5                 We welcome the efforts of your

          6  committee to advance an agenda that is primarily

          7  focused on activity within the watershed and the

          8  role of the City in regulating, guiding and

          9  educating in the interest of this important natural

         10  resource.

         11                 The National Park Service supports

         12  Intro. 565. An action such as this, that is directed

         13  at improvement of the environmental health for

         14  Jamaica Bay is certainly consistent with the intent

         15  of Congress in the establishment of Gateway National

         16  Recreation Area.

         17                 Should this legislation be passed,

         18  the Park would welcome the opportunity to consult

         19  with the commissions on the development of the

         20  watershed plan.

         21                 We would suggest that the proposed

         22  legislation should more clearly acknowledge the role

         23  of the National Park Service, as primary stewards of

         24  the bay proper, and of the intent of the City to

         25  collaborate with the agency in the interest of
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          2  protecting the natural resources of Jamaica Bay.

          3                 We would also suggest that the

          4  proposed watershed plan should include a specific

          5  element that addresses the need for protocol for

          6  interagency coordination for implementation of all

          7  elements of the plan.

          8                 Likewise, the National Park Service

          9  is supportive of Resolution 830, an action that

         10  would establish TMDL for nitrogen in Jamaica Bay.

         11                 In principle, this resolution is also

         12  consistent with the enabling legislation in that

         13  established gateway, in that it links the effects of

         14  nitrogen loading on the environmental quality of

         15  Jamaica Bay.

         16                 The Park supports any effort by

         17  government agencies to work together in search of

         18  answers to questions relating to improvement of

         19  water quality, and we are prepared to actively

         20  consult with the City and the State on this matter.

         21                 Finally, the National Park Service

         22  will not commit on the specific measures contained

         23  in Intro. 566. Best practices for environmental

         24  stewardship require that wetlands are properly

         25  identified, protected and managed. Who protects
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          2  wetlands? Particularly those in the proximity of

          3  Gateway NRA, is less of a concern to the National

          4  Park Service in that such areas are properly

          5  administered with due consideration for the natural

          6  resource values.

          7                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          8  speak at this hearing, and I'm prepared to address

          9  any questions you might have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         11  you so much, and I have a question or a comment,

         12  once Mr. Houston gives his testimony. But I have

         13  just a statement, I guess, for Mr. Houston and other

         14  subsequent witnesses. I was, you know, more than

         15  willing to give a little latitude to DEP, and to

         16  Parks and to Superintendent Avrin regarding their

         17  statements because I wanted them to have the

         18  opportunity to talk about a lot of things that they

         19  were doing for the bay that don't bear directly on

         20  the legislative proposals before us. Because I think

         21  it's a great opportunity for the agencies to give us

         22  an overview as if this was like an oversight hearing

         23  on the bay, which it's not, but I think this is a

         24  good opportunity for them to put forward some of the

         25  good things that they do, and this was latitude that
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          2  I had wanted to give to Mr. Houston as well, but I'm

          3  not going to be able to.

          4                 So, starting with Mr. Houston, and

          5  other subsequent witnesses, if people could, you

          6  know, direct their comments on 565, 566, and

          7  resolution 830. Are they good? Are they bad? Do you

          8  have a comment? Do you not have a comment? And I

          9  really want people, just because we have another

         10  hearing coming in here at 1:00, so I will do my best

         11  to severely limit any questioning on my end, because

         12  I want this to be an information transmittal from

         13  you folks to me, based on what you feel about 565,

         14  566 and 830.

         15                 And, so, I wanted to cut you this

         16  slack, Mr. Houston, to give you the opportunity of

         17  all the good things that the Army Corps is doing,

         18  but the clock has caught up with this. So, if you

         19  could kind of -- I'll take your full statement for

         20  the record, but I want to ask you specifically about

         21  565, 566 and 830. And, so, with that said, I'd like

         22  you to begin your statement.

         23                 MR. HOUSTON: Well, you greatly

         24  shortened my testimony. As you see in the written

         25  testimony before you, we do enumerate a lot of
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          2  activities that the Corps has been involved in, with

          3  many partners, including the agencies you've seen

          4  here before.

          5                 With regard specifically to the

          6  resolutions under consideration by the Council, the

          7  testimony is empty as far as those resolutions are

          8  concerned. And the reasons for that, I can enumerate

          9  very briefly, are, my agency does not feel it is

         10  appropriate for it to take a position on how the

         11  City determines it's best to manage its resources.

         12                 However, we will add that watershed

         13  planning is perfectly within the policy that the

         14  Corps of Engineers normally undertakes, and if the

         15  City chose that avenue, the Corps would, within its

         16  authority, and within congressional budgets, work

         17  with the Council to see that that comes to fruition.

         18                 Regarding the issue of transferring

         19  property. I will mention that the Corps has worked

         20  with both New York City DEP and New York City Parks

         21  to a very great deal of success, and we expect to

         22  continue success with either agency.

         23                 Regarding the third resolution on

         24  nitrogen, it's outside my agency's expertise and

         25  authority and we would prefer not to comment on that
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          2  at all.

          3                 I would like to add one issue,

          4  though, that came up --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please.

          6                 MR. HOUSTON:-- Very briefly, on a

          7  prior testimony.

          8                 There was a proposal for a resolution

          9  dealing with dredge material and its use in the

         10  borrow pit.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I was just going

         12  to ask you about that.

         13                 MR. HOUSTON: The resolution, or the

         14  proposal started off by indicating that there was a

         15  problem initially with the use of contaminated

         16  dredge materials in the pits. Unfortunately, the

         17  proposal concluded by recommending a resolution

         18  against using dredge material, period, in the pits.

         19  I think that would be an unfortunate mistake on the

         20  part of the Council, but without using suitable

         21  clean dredge material, such as the sands that are

         22  currently being dredged from the Rockaway inlet,

         23  which are planned to be used to restore one of the

         24  marsh islands, most of the activities that my

         25  agencies and others are involved in the bay, would
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          2  be effectively, economically untenable.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Houston.

          6                 I will recognize Council Member

          7  Jennings from Queens, the district that neighbors

          8  mine. Pleasure to have you here.

          9                 And I will just direct staff that,

         10  you know, as we consider the proposal by Mr.

         11  Appleton, with regard to the borrow pits, that we

         12  certainly consult with the Army Corps on that. But I

         13  believe that Mr. Appleton indicated that the use of

         14  toxic dredge boils would not be suitable for any

         15  kind of fill use in the bay; would that be something

         16  that you would agree with?

         17                 MR. HOUSTON: I think that's how he

         18  started his initial proposal.

         19                 I needed to put it on the record,

         20  that there have been proposals to use what is

         21  considered unsuitable dredge material, unsuitable in

         22  terms of testing for ocean disposal.

         23                 It's important to know that my agency

         24  would not have proposed those if it thought it would

         25  damage the bay.
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          2                 That said, we understand that there's

          3  a large community concern about such materials going

          4  into the bay, but there are even larger amounts of

          5  relatively clean dredge material, material that is

          6  acceptable for placement in the ocean, and we

          7  believe that the majority of the community in

          8  Jamaica Bay, as they've told us, will be in support

          9  of that type of material.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. I think we

         11  can, suffice to say that there will be more on this

         12  issue, it is something that is of interest to me,

         13  and, you know, clearly if there's going to be an

         14  attempt to return the bay to its normal depth, if

         15  you will, and of course we all know that sediment

         16  transport issues are, you know, critical for the

         17  marshland loss and all that, so, we have to have

         18  like a robust discussion on, you know what kind of

         19  fill does and does not get used.

         20                 So, I would direct staff to, that

         21  this is an issue that the Chair is interested in and

         22  we should certainly get the Army Corps take on it

         23  before we proceed.

         24                 So, thank you, Mr. Houston. I think

         25  your testimony and your presence here was valuable
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          2  for that issue alone.

          3                 And Mr. Avrin, I thank you for your

          4  support of two of the items before us today, and

          5  would be very happy and glad to have your support on

          6  those. And so, please give our best to Billy and

          7  everyone that's working so hard for us back at

          8  Gateway, and at the Bay.

          9                 And, so, I appreciate having you both

         10  here and I appreciate the benefit of your views, and

         11  as we take next steps, you'll of course be front and

         12  center in the loop.

         13                 And particularly your recommendation,

         14  Dave, with regard to giving the proper recognition,

         15  you know, to the Parks service as the primary

         16  steward of this great resource, I think is a point

         17  very well taken.

         18                 Thank you. Thank you, both.

         19                 And as I mentioned, we'll be calling

         20  Larry Swanson, Alexander Brash and Craig Obey.

         21                 And as those witnesses take their

         22  place, and as they're sworn in, I just have to step

         23  out for about 90 seconds. I'll be right back. You

         24  can swear the witnesses in.

         25                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you solemnly swear or
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          2  affirm to tell the truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          4                 MR. KAPLAN: Please state your name

          5  for the record.

          6                 MR. SWANSON: I'm Larry Swanson. I'm

          7  with the State University of New York, Marine

          8  Sciences Research Center.

          9                 MR. BRASH: Alexander Brash, Regional

         10  Director for the National Parks Conservation

         11  Association.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'll just remind

         13  you both that we are unfortunately under time

         14  constraints, so we can start with you Mr. Swanson

         15  and then you, Mr. Brash.

         16                 MR. SWANSON: Very well. Thank you,

         17  Madam Chairwoman, for the opportunity to speak on

         18  this important issue.

         19                 I'll jump right into my position on

         20  565. I support in general the notion of having a

         21  management plan developed for Jamaica Bay. I do have

         22  several suggestions that I would ask you to

         23  consider. The first is that I believe that an

         24  element of the management plan actually should

         25  address the issues of the total daily maximum loads,
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          2  or the TMDL's for nitrogen. Either they should be

          3  looked at independently by any plan or at least they

          4  should serve as a review function for what is coming

          5  out of the DEC and the Department of Environmental

          6  Protection that is specifically addressing that

          7  issue in Jamaica Bay.

          8                 Just to comment on HEP. I was the

          9  first co-chair of Scientific and Technical Advisory

         10  Committee of the HEP program a number of years ago,

         11  and I can't tell you how many hours I've sat in

         12  meetings for HEP over the years, but it certainly

         13  was never my impression that the HEP was designed to

         14  develop anything as specific as the management plan

         15  for a specific body of water.

         16                 In addition to that, I think over the

         17  years, as Commissioner Appleton has said, that the

         18  HEP has also become a little bit sluggish, so I

         19  think that having an independent management plan

         20  probably would serve the bay and the community

         21  around the bay exceedingly well.

         22                 Now I would like to address a little

         23  more specifically Resolution 830, concerning the

         24  total maximum daily loads for nitrogen in the bay.

         25                 The subject resolution recognizes the
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          2  importance of the bay ecosystem and also identifies

          3  the number of impairments to the bay. While the

          4  impairments are alarming and must be reversed, it's

          5  not clear that the identified impairments are all

          6  strongly linked to excessive nitrogen discharges,

          7  and specifically those from wastewater pollution

          8  control plants.

          9                 It should be noted that there are

         10  many improvements in water quality in Jamaica Bay

         11  since the 1980s, and according to the 2002 New York

         12  Harbor Quality Report, there continues to be a

         13  decline, for example, in fecal colorform

         14  concentrations throughout the bay.

         15                 Baywide during summer, bottom

         16  dissolved oxygen concentrations have increased over

         17  a similar period. And the increase was statistically

         18  significant, at least through 2002. That's not to

         19  say hypoxic conditions don't occur throughout the

         20  bay during summer months in specific locations, but

         21  overall there has been a general improvement.

         22                 Also, the City has made substantial

         23  increases in its ability to treat stormwater.

         24                 In 1989, for example, the City on the

         25  whole, only treated about 18 percent of its
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          2  stormwater. Today it treats about 38 percent of the

          3  stormwater in Jamaica Bay.

          4                 In Jamaica Bay, as of 2000, has made

          5  also substantial progress in reducing nitrogen in

          6  the sewage effluent, and I refer you to my figure

          7  one. A more complete figure was in the DEP's

          8  testimony presented earlier in the morning.

          9                 The end of ocean-dumping early in the

         10  1990s substantially increased the total nitrogen

         11  discharge to the bay, but beginning in 1998,

         12  biological nutrient removal reduced total nitrogen

         13  in the bay to pre-1993 levels, and I'm pleased to

         14  see that it continues to be reduced even this year.

         15                 The City has reduced discharges to

         16  the bay, about 13 percent since 1990. This has

         17  improved -- also there's been improved water quality

         18  of those discharges. Without the imposition of

         19  TMDLs.

         20                 While the amount of stormwater

         21  treated at the Jamaica Bay water pollution control

         22  plants has increased, the City reduced the sewage

         23  effluent by eliminating illegal discharges and

         24  implementing water conservation measures.

         25                 In some cases, TMDL's may not be
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          2  effective in reducing impairments of concern.

          3                 For example, it has already been

          4  noted that the hypoxic condition in Grassy Bay. That

          5  condition was created primarily by restricting the

          6  flow in the bay and by deepening the Grassy Bay

          7  itself. The most effective means to eliminate that

          8  particular problem is to shoal the bay, once again,

          9  to more natural conditions. TMDLs won't solve the

         10  problem.

         11                 The role that nitrogen is playing in

         12  wetlands loss is unclear at this point. That

         13  nitrogen is causing the loss is a hypothesis, it's

         14  worth investigating, but until it's proven to do so,

         15  it should not be used as a means to justify TMDL's.

         16  There are four water pollution control plants

         17  discharging about 240 million gallons of sewage to

         18  the bay, treated sewage to the bay each day.

         19                 Would TMDL's be imposed on each plant

         20  requiring each plant to construct biological

         21  nutrient removal facilities?

         22                 Some 50 percent of the discharge of

         23  Coney Island goes out on the ebb tide into the

         24  Atlantic Ocean already.

         25                 The Rockaway Plant is extremely small
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          2  and might get better benefit by just relocating the

          3  discharge of the outfall from the eastern section of

          4  the bay to the western section of the bay.

          5                 I should also point out that

          6  HydroQual and the eutrophication work that was

          7  alluded to earlier, emphasized that if you really

          8  wanted to achieve continuous water quality

          9  standards, that the best thing to do is to move all

         10  the discharges from the bay into the Atlantic Ocean.

         11                 So the benefits of requiring TMDL's

         12  for all water pollution control plants should be

         13  explored, but I think that you want to do it with

         14  some caution. It may be that the benefit only could

         15  be really significant at the 26 Ward and the Jamaica

         16  Bay plants.

         17                 It's already been mentioned about the

         18  fact that the comprehensive Jamaica Bay Report is

         19  due in October of 2006, I would certainly recommend

         20  that this Council not implement the TMDL's until

         21  that plant is, or that plan is presented and

         22  critically reviewed.

         23                 Just in summary, I'm pleased that the

         24  Council continues to be supportive improving the

         25  condition of the bay. It's one of the truly great
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          2  resources of the City.

          3                 A watershed protection plan is

          4  certainly warranted, but I would advise that

          5  implementation of TMDL's for the bay should be done

          6  extremely cautiously. Seemingly, they would be

          7  beneficial. Careful assessment might suggest

          8  otherwise. Implementation would be expensive, and

          9  may not be as effective as originally thought.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Dr.

         12  Swanson. I wasn't here when you started your

         13  testimony, and I will have questions and comments

         14  for you after Mr. Brash gives his statement. But let

         15  me welcome you and thank you for all of your great

         16  work. And I guess everyone in this room should know

         17  that Larry and I have been friends for many, many

         18  years. Stonybrook is my alma mater and he continues

         19  to do, Larry continues to do such great things. Just

         20  thanks for being here. We really appreciate it. I'll

         21  come back to you once we've had Mr. Brush.

         22                 Mr. Brush, please.

         23                 It is Mr. Brush, isn't it?

         24                 MR. BRASH: Brash. Brash.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Did you write

                                                            106

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  this? Did you write out this slip?

          3                 MR. BRASH: I didn't have proper

          4  schooling.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You gotta work

          6  on the handwriting here. You gotta work on the

          7  handwriting here. But with that criticism, I'm sure

          8  everything else that you're going to say is --

          9                 MR. BRASH: In order to be concise,

         10  conserve time, I have a copy of my statement so I

         11  won't go into the background. I think we all know

         12  what the issues are with Jamaica Bay and we know how

         13  valuable it is, and we know what it ought to be.

         14                 I will try to confine my remarks to

         15  addressing the two intros. But in addition, the

         16  third area I will also address is some of the

         17  funding issues, which are usually quickly brushed

         18  aside and by the agency's address simply as capital,

         19  and that's not the only answer.

         20                 One, in terms of Intro. 566.

         21  Absolutely, emphatically, and not only would we urge

         22  you to move ahead, we would urge a couple of other

         23  things. One is, what ought to be added, not just

         24  wetlands, but contiguous and adjacent tracks of

         25  uplands. They are critical. And run off so on and so
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          2  forth, you must go through them, they are buffer,

          3  they protect it. There are several out there.

          4  There's only one or two very large ones that need

          5  immediate attention such as Thurst Basin, such as a

          6  couple of lots up in Spring Creek, and even the

          7  other pieces of Paedergat and so forth.

          8                 I'm happy on your time at the end of

          9  this, if you have any questions about the land

         10  transfer process, I, in fact, probably wrote the

         11  City's original letter in 2003, and I know about

         12  those details, I can address some of them, but I'll

         13  hold for that for your questions.

         14                 I would add also, while you're

         15  looking at that process, to, in addition, call for

         16  immediately a moratorium on any additional transfers

         17  by the City, on any parcels that are, and I gave it

         18  a sort of rough background in my testimony, but

         19  let's say a couple of acres that still have more

         20  than 20 years of vegetation on them.

         21                 Until such time, if you pull together

         22  a feasibility study, until such time as that's done,

         23  until then I would also request from the

         24  Administration, a moratorium on any additional

         25  clearing and land transfers, or the subsidization of
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          2  them by other processes.

          3                 The process is complicated and not

          4  all the agencies are part of it, but some of this is

          5  still going on at a very rapid rate, and I think

          6  where you're proposing a long-term study, it

          7  certainly will take awhile, some of it may go before

          8  you get to the end. And it wouldn't be too much to

          9  ask for immediate moratorium.

         10                 In terms of the next one, which is

         11  supporting the nitrogen regulation in the bay, I

         12  actually wasn't in fact in favor of it. I think

         13  anything you can do to help would be terrific. It

         14  certainly needs more teeth. But equally at the

         15  moment I would listen to the Al Appleton, who I

         16  think is very wise on both the realities and also

         17  the Administrative burdens and it costs the City.

         18  So, I would in fact move myself from a yes to a

         19  neutral, because I'm willing to listen. But

         20  certainly, I think everyone needs to put some teeth

         21  in and move ahead on that.

         22                 But in addition, I think there's a

         23  couple of things that I think are related to that,

         24  in terms of both some funding, and some immediate

         25  answers and I'm trying to come up with some
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          2  suggestions, the solutions that may be what I would

          3  call nuts and bolts but are eminently doable on

          4  immediate impact.

          5                 One of the things that still stands

          6  out in the bay, besides moving in with the watershed

          7  plan is the issue of what they call floatables. It's

          8  the garbage, it's the debris. Don Riepe here has

          9  been working on that for years. I mean, more than

         10  anything else, that alienates our citizens from the

         11  bay and that needs to be addressed.

         12                 I think a simple movement, a simple

         13  funding, let's say of a quarter of a million

         14  dollars, $250,000 to the park seasonal plan, get

         15  them to get New York City kids to help during the

         16  summers, they could work under Don Riepe and you

         17  could make a huge difference. Little amount of

         18  money, huge difference. Expense money, I know it's

         19  tough, but, you know, who wants to go out and

         20  connect to that bay?

         21                 How do we get everybody else here to

         22  connect with that bay, when you walk out and look at

         23  a tire, a garbage bag, it's disgusting and it's not

         24  right. That certainly ought to be addressed. And

         25  then finally, quickly on the finance and the other
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          2  thing is I cannot equally urge you enough to

          3  support, it sounds odd from an environmentalist, the

          4  Army Corps of Engineer. I mean, their work with the

          5  park service, their work with DEP is amazing. And

          6  they're doing eight sights, they're not funded for

          7  it. Everyone is dancing around that. The Army Corps

          8  has lost their funding in congress. The Parks

          9  Department has worked years, and I was part of it,

         10  doing the design for Spring Creek. That funding is

         11  gone now down in Congress.

         12                 Park service has got some designs

         13  out, they're ready to go. That funding is gone. What

         14  DEP puts in, the feds match three to one. You can't

         15  get a better deal. Nothing else.

         16                 I'm sorry, Craig was here with me, we

         17  brought him up, we spent yesterday on Jamaica Bay,

         18  we're actually going out to look at some other park

         19  sites. I had to send him off, his clock is ticking.

         20  But he and I are leading a delegation of our board

         21  members, many of them are esteemed New Yorkers, and

         22  we are going to Congress in two weeks and we are

         23  meeting with various delegations to push this.

         24                 There can be nothing more important

         25  than cleaning up Jamaica Bay, it's going to get the
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          2  ball rolling. The Army Corps is an HRE, the Hudson

          3  River Estuary Program, their work on Jamaica Bay,

          4  three to one deal. There is no better deal in town.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          6                 MR. BRASH: That should do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What?

          8                 MR. BRASH: That should do. And if you

          9  want or some time later, I can answer land transfer

         10  questions, if you have a particular --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What I would ask

         12  before -- if you have specific, you know, language

         13  recommendations for any of the legislation that we

         14  have, we would be very, very grateful to get that

         15  from you. I mean, sometimes you don't draft actual

         16  language, but or if it would just be easier to make

         17  a staff person available to you to come, you know,

         18  if you could download to him or her in a more

         19  comprehensive way, nuances that you'd like to see in

         20  some of these bills, we would be more than happy to

         21  accommodate you on that.

         22                 And tell me a little about this three

         23  to one. Just fill me in on that again, the three to

         24  one match.

         25                 MR. BRASH: The plan, the Army Corps
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          2  is working particularly with DEP as lead agency

          3  providing City funding, and they're working, they

          4  have a proposal to do eight sites, particularly

          5  around Jamaica Bay, for restoration. Gerritson is

          6  one of them. Spring Creek and some of the others.

          7  The deal with the Army Corps is, the City puts up,

          8  or any partner, but someone puts up a piece, the

          9  Army Corps matches three to one. So, in the case of

         10  Gerritson Creek --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And this is for

         12  wetlands restoration?

         13                 MR. BRASH: Contiguous upland habitat

         14  restoration, so forth, yes.

         15                 And at the moment, what is ready to

         16  go ahead is about $15 million worth of programs on

         17  the federal side, and they only funded, I think

         18  seven and a half to eight million dollars this year.

         19  So one of the things we are going down, we've been

         20  working with a large group, I am also the Chair of

         21  the HEP, Habitat Committee, but we're working with a

         22  large group to go ahead and push for this funding.

         23  But if this --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But that funding

         25  won't happen unless there is some other partner.
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          2  That's all match money; is that --

          3                 MR. BRASH: The City already has the

          4  funds, they put them aside. The City is ready to go.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, the City is

          6  ready --

          7                 MR. BRASH: What's not happening is on

          8  the federal side the money is falling short.

          9                 So, we are going down to lobby

         10  Congress personally in two weeks with our own Board

         11  members, but I would urge this Committee, City

         12  Council as a whole, any outreach to our

         13  congressional delegates in the next month --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How about this?

         15  Why don't we do a resolution? We could draft the

         16  resolution in the Council. So, I will direct staff

         17  to have conversations with Mr. Brash so we could

         18  figure out an appropriate resolution, that we could

         19  get through, go to Congress, you know, two weeks ago

         20  we got the brownfields opportunity area, you know,

         21  money to flow because of a resolution we did here in

         22  the Council, calling upon the Governor and the State

         23  Legislature. You know, now that we've had that

         24  success, maybe we could take on the feds as well.

         25                 So, that's --
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          2                 MR. BRASH: That would be wonderful.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's a great

          4  recommendation. We'd love to be helpful on that.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Brash.

          7                 And Larry, I just want to thank you

          8  in a special way for all the work that you continue

          9  to do, sort of -- ultimately this is a scientific

         10  inquiry, what is the truth, and what are the

         11  mechanisms and how did it all happen, and how does

         12  sediment transport affect things, versus levels of

         13  nitrogen and so on, and, you know, if we don't have

         14  the science, we're all just like, you know, running

         15  around blind. And, so, your many scientific papers,

         16  many of which are referenced here in your statement,

         17  are of great value, just doing like the basic

         18  science that we need to sort of chart our course,

         19  and I thank you for your wise counsel with regard to

         20  the TMDL issue. So, we should certainly take under

         21  great advisement what you say in your statement. And

         22  you always make me feel bad when I graduate with my

         23  bachelor's degree for not becoming like a real

         24  scientist like you, doing like real scientific work.

         25                 So, I'm like stuck doing this stuff,
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          2  so I think we both do good things. And, so, I thank

          3  you once again.

          4                 Are you going to hang around til the

          5  end of the hearing? Are you going to be around? Are

          6  you going to sit around, we're going to go a little

          7  while longer, because I'd like to have an

          8  opportunity to chat with you?

          9                 MR. SWANSON: Yeah, I'll be hanging

         10  around for the rest of the hearing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         12                 MR. SWANSON: And I'd just like to

         13  comment on your comment about the position that you

         14  hold.

         15                 I teach several classes and what we

         16  discuss is environmental policy, and I think one of

         17  the things that we continuously point out is the

         18  scientist has not been aggressive enough in

         19  participating in activities like this you're

         20  running. And it's really the communication between

         21  the people that have the authority to make the

         22  important decisions, and scientists that needs to be

         23  improved, and I hope that some of our future

         24  students will be inspired to sit where you're

         25  sitting and also to work with you as a scientist in
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          2  making your job easier.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's almost

          4  like imposing a sentence on them. But I appreciate

          5  it. It's funny work from this side of the table, and

          6  you know, science is such a great thing. But thank

          7  you for your generous comments.

          8                 Yes, I'd be more than willing to work

          9  and inspire any of your students, you know, that the

         10  public policies -- you know, sometimes we can get

         11  good things done if we listen to the scientists. So,

         12  thank you both.

         13                 And, Larry, I'll talk to you after

         14  the hearing, and thank you, Mr. Brash.

         15                 Dan and Don. Don Riepe and Dan Mundy.

         16  The dynamic duo of Jamaica Bay.

         17                 Everybody in this room knows you,

         18  respects you and you've both given a lifetime of

         19  advocacy for the bay. It's just wonderful. You've

         20  both made such a tremendous difference, more than I

         21  ever could, and, you know, we thank you for your

         22  continued advocacy.

         23                 So, I want to thank you for both

         24  being here. Fredy will do the honors.

         25                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you solemnly swear or
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          2  affirm to tell the truth?

          3                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          4                 MR. KAPLAN: Please state your names

          5  for the record.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: In order to make

          7  the microphone work, the light has to be out. The

          8  red light is out, it means the microphone is on.

          9                 MR. RIEPE: My name is Don Riepe.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, Don, you

         11  can just go.

         12                 MR. RIEPE: Okay.

         13                 Again, thank you for having these

         14  hearings at such a quick turnaround from our last

         15  one. They're extremely informative, and I think

         16  that's one of the major benefits of having them. In

         17  fact, I had to change my testimony and scribble all

         18  over the paper.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         20                 MR. RIEPE: I'm learning new things

         21  every day, which is good.

         22                 My name is Don Riepe, I'm the

         23  Director of the Northeast Chapter, American Littoral

         24  Society, a coastal conservation organization.

         25                 I also hold the position of Jamaica
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          2  Bay Guardian, and I'm a Board Member of both New

          3  York City Audubon and New York City Sierra Clubs.

          4  I'm also a founding member of the New York City

          5  Butterfly Club, but that's another story.

          6                 As Jamaica Bay Guardian, I routinely

          7  patrol the bay by boat to look for pollution

          8  problems, conduct wildlife surveys, organize

          9  educational fieldtrips for the public, and

         10  coordinate with Dan Mundy, my partner over here,

         11  Operation Clean Sweep, a program to remove abandoned

         12  boats and debris from the shorelines and marshes of

         13  the bay.

         14                 In other words, I'm out there, out

         15  there every day and I would invite Council to come

         16  out with us some time to really, to get a feel for

         17  this, to come out. Both Dan and I have boats, we'd

         18  love to take you out there to see the big marshes

         19  and all the wildlife. May is a wonderful time, May

         20  and June, before the buts come out.

         21                 I'm here today to fully support both

         22  the legislation and resolution that's put forth, and

         23  I'd like to make some comments.

         24                 A lot of what I have written here has

         25  been said by other people, and it's especially nice
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          2  to hear Al Appleton really speak very well. And Alex

          3  Brash stole my thunder about putting a moratorium on

          4  wetlands, the City is in the process of selling

          5  these wetlands parcels, and thanks to Dan here on my

          6  right, he has stopped those sales in Broad Channel

          7  until we could hopefully get them transferred to

          8  parks or another protective agency.

          9                 So, I think it's important to put

         10  those areas, those wetland parcels on hold for now,

         11  and until we really see what the overall value of

         12  these areas are and how we can protect them.

         13                 In relation to number 565, I strongly

         14  agree that a watershed, sewer shed protection plan

         15  is necessary to stabilize current impacts to the bay

         16  from upland sources, and to curtail the loss of

         17  remaining remnant buffer areas to development.

         18                 I'm glad to see that there are

         19  quantitative and measurable interim and final goals

         20  for the plan, with an implementation date set for on

         21  or before July 1, 2006. It has been estimated by the

         22  DEC and others, that we're losing about 40 acres of

         23  salt marsh yearly.  If this is true, then we've lost

         24  about 160 acres since 2001 when the Blue Ribbon

         25  panel first met to study the situation to make
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          2  recommendations.

          3                 During the last four years, the

          4  National Park Services has conducted a pilot study

          5  whereby two acres of marsh are restored. Currently

          6  the Army Corps is stockpiling sand on an old runway

          7  at Floyd Bennett Field and plans to hopefully

          8  restore another ten acres or so.

          9                 While these efforts are commendable,

         10  clearly this is not nearly enough to solve the

         11  problem, and much more has to be done in shorter

         12  time frames.

         13                 By having NPS, DEC, DEP, Corps of

         14  Engineers, and the Port Authority, which I think

         15  should be here because they're a major player in

         16  Jamaica Bay. They filled in 4,500 acres of salt

         17  marsh to create Kennedy Airport. This is before

         18  legislation, but still they're a major player.

         19                 So, these people should get together

         20  on a regular basis. Right now I don't think that

         21  these agencies are doing enough in a coordinated

         22  fashion. This problem simply has to be taken more

         23  seriously at the highest levels of government.

         24                 They're talking about having no

         25  federal and state funding for this. Well, if I were
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          2  the Commissioner I'd say get together with the other

          3  commissioners, get the Congress people, the senators

          4  and, you know, get some press out there and say we

          5  have a major critical problem, we need funding.

          6  That's the way I think you go about it. You have to

          7  create, you know, some kind of emergency need, which

          8  I think this is.

          9                 You can't be just going home and

         10  putting out and putting off one time frame after

         11  another and hoping that everyone will forget about

         12  you.

         13                 I'd recommend to start some kind of

         14  Jamaica Bay fund. I would also seek monies from

         15  corporate entities, here in the financial capital of

         16  the city, of the world here. There's a lot of money

         17  to be had out there and I think if you put together

         18  a good proposal you can hopefully get the necessary

         19  funding.

         20                 You know, we talked about $19 billion

         21  in capital projects. I think last time I was here I

         22  was asked how much do I think it would take to

         23  really put restoration out there in the forefront. I

         24  said a billion dollars, you know, one billion

         25  dollars, I think that should be a goal in the next
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          2  couple of years to try to raise. I know it sounds

          3  like a lot, but if you put it all together, there's

          4  a lot of money out there, right in this harbor, and

          5  everybody should take -- in fact, I'd be willing, if

          6  you'd increase the tax on the people living in the

          7  watershed, you know, it could be a hundred bucks

          8  extra a year, or raise it a million dollars. It

          9  could be graduated according to means as well.

         10                 As far as 566, we talked about

         11  transferring City-owned lands to the Department of

         12  Parks, and, again, I recommend that moratorium, or

         13  at least a harder look on these lands before they

         14  are transferred, because once you transfer them,

         15  even though by State Law you can't develop them or

         16  an adjacent area within 150 feet, you know people

         17  are going to nibble away at that store, they're all

         18  boats, you know, cars and debris, and they're going

         19  to impact the marshes, so they're going to be

         20  degraded that way, even though they can't be

         21  developed.

         22                 I would also add, the eastern and

         23  central sections of the Arverne Renewal Plan. I know

         24  Arverne has a big renewal project going on right

         25  now, and I'm not against housing, I'm not against
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          2  economic development, but those are plastic, those

          3  can be moved. They don't have to be put in a

          4  critical zone. So, I'd like to see a harder look at

          5  especially the eastern section, which is a critical

          6  environmental zone, which will be definitely

          7  impacted by an even category 1 hurricane. So, we

          8  should look at that area, and put it into parks, put

          9  it into a soccer field, as I think Community Board

         10  14 would like to see. But not the intense housing.

         11                 If you go out to Rockaways, aside

         12  from the renewal housing developments, there's

         13  development everywhere. And just, you're creating a

         14  real hazard if you continue at that level of

         15  development. And in relation to Resolution 830, I

         16  say it's utmost importance that the DEP take the

         17  necessary expanse to further reduce the nitrogen

         18  level coming to Jamaica Bay. This is a leading cause

         19  of the bay's poor water quality, as Dan will tell

         20  you better than I can, and periodic hypoxic

         21  occurrences in Jamaica Bay, and which I've seen

         22  every summer, there are fish kills especially in the

         23  northern section of the bay, so it is a major impact

         24  on the bay.

         25                 It's also resulting in huge algal
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          2  blooms, all the sea lettuce that covers the marshes,

          3  tide flats totally in the northern section, and a

          4  severely impacting marine life and benthic

          5  invertebrate communities, especially in the northern

          6  sections of the bay.

          7                 It may be a major contributing cause

          8  of marsh loss, as excess nutrient loads, in other

          9  words, too much of a good thing overwhelms the

         10  system, and may also be leading to pathological

         11  conditions in the marsh. So, it could be one of the

         12  major players here.

         13                 Jamaica Bay is a unique estuary that

         14  supports critically important fish and wildlife and

         15  habitat, as well as much needed recreational

         16  opportunity for millions of New York City residents.

         17                 If we lose the salt marshes of the

         18  bay, we'll lose many species of marine and bird

         19  life, as well as lose the buffer that protect the

         20  houses of people who are living around the bay, such

         21  as me.

         22                 This is a crisis and a potential

         23  ecological disaster in the making and much more

         24  needs to be done in a timely manner. Jamaica Bay is

         25  a real challenge, and I'm glad to see that New York
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          2  City Council is taking a leading role in this effort

          3  by proposing legislation that will hopefully result

          4  in stabilizing and restoring the bay's ecosystem.

          5                 Thank you for inviting me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Don.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8  Briefly, I just wanted to interrupt. I have to leave

          9  to go back to the Bronx. Some kids I promised I'd be

         10  there by 1:00, and I called to say I won't be there

         11  by 1:00, but they're waiting, it's a ribbon-cutting.

         12                 So thank you for this. Council Member

         13  Gennaro is going to carry on and I just, for the

         14  record, on my opening statement I mentioned the

         15  Daily News and wetlands in the Bronx, I meant

         16  brownfields. So, I was in the right church, wrong

         17  pew. But this has been very informative and I look

         18  forward to working with you to see what we can do in

         19  terms of tweaking the resolution and the intro to

         20  make sure that we address all the needs here. So,

         21  thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Foster. And thank you for all of your

         24  great work that you always do, and we certainly will

         25  work together to do the best we can by the bay. So,
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          2  thank you, again.

          3                 Okay, Dan.

          4                 MR. MUNDY: I'm here representing

          5  Community Board 14, the environmental Chairperson of

          6  that, and from the Jamaica Bay Eco Watchers.

          7                 Chairman, members of the Committee,

          8  once again I thank you for the opportunity to

          9  testify on these very important issues affecting

         10  Jamaica Bay.

         11                 My name is Dan Mundy, and I'm the

         12  founder of the Jamaica Bay Eco Watchers. In 1995 and

         13  1996, we first noticed that something was wrong with

         14  the salt water marshes in Jamaica Bay.

         15                 After consulting with friends of mine

         16  informing our environmental group, we studied,

         17  documented and presented our findings at various

         18  meetings, to agencies and to elected officials.

         19                 We finally petitioned the National

         20  Park Service, to the Jamaica Bay Task Force, that a

         21  Blue Ribbon Panel address this emergency. Since then

         22  we have lobbied for appropriations, and have

         23  educated the general public through speaking

         24  engagements, and the media. This has resulted in

         25  State and City hearings, studies and pilot
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          2  restoration projects. One which is finished and

          3  successful, and others which are in the pipeline.

          4                 We cannot stop here. There is much

          5  more to be done and that is why I'm here today.

          6                 On November 2nd, 2002, I testified

          7  before this Committee about the need to reduce

          8  nitrogen load from the wastewater pollution plants

          9  discharging into Jamaica Bay.

         10                 This year we have documented

         11  additional DEP marine vessels to bring in sludge

         12  from other areas to the 26th Ward for processing,

         13  adding even more nitrogen to be discharged into the

         14  bay. This has increased the amount and duration of

         15  the brown algae blooms which we are now

         16  experiencing.

         17                 Therefore, we strongly support

         18  Resolution 830 urging the New York State DEC to

         19  immediately develop and implement a total maximum

         20  daily load, for nitrogen pollution into Jamaica Bay.

         21                 However, they may tell you they

         22  already have a total maximum daily load. Which I

         23  believe is 54,000 for nitrogen pollution into

         24  Jamaica Bay; however, they also give variances to

         25  these standards, and these issues must also be
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          2  addressed through this resolution.

          3                 In January of 2005, the total maximum

          4  daily load has risen to over 42,000 pounds, that's

          5  just this past January. We feel a load of 30,000

          6  should be the goal. We do applaud the DEP's efforts

          7  to do a feasibility study for a long ocean outfall

          8  and get this effluent and centrate out of Jamaica

          9  Bay as was for previously testified that the bay is

         10  too small to take this load.

         11                 On August 4th in 2004, the Department

         12  of Citywide Administrative Services public auction

         13  booklet offered for sale seven environmentally

         14  sensitive wetland properties in Broad Channel,

         15  Queens, which is located in the middle of Jamaica

         16  Bay.

         17                 A committee for the preservation of

         18  wetlands and open spaces, supported by the Jamaica

         19  Bay Eco Watchers was formed, and with the help of

         20  our elected officials, Joseph Addabbo sitting right

         21  here to my right, we were able to have these parcels

         22  withdrawn from sale.

         23                 We have attempted to have them

         24  transferred over to the Department of Parks and

         25  Recreation Natural Resources, but have been
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          2  unsuccessful at this time.

          3                 Although these are small parcels,

          4  they do range from 2,500 square feet to 10,000

          5  square feet. And any sensitive wetland is a very

          6  important wetland, especially when we are expending

          7  up to $500,000 to restore an acre of wetland, one

          8  would wonder why the City would be offering for sale

          9  a similar parcel in a similar area.

         10                 Therefore, we strongly support Intro.

         11  No. 566, the local law to create a temporary task

         12  force to study the feasibility of transferring

         13  City-owned wetlands to the jurisdiction of Parks and

         14  Recreation.

         15                 We further ask for a moratorium on

         16  any future sales of these and other wetlands until

         17  this process is resolved.

         18                 We also support Intro. No. 565, in

         19  relation to developing a watershed plan for

         20  watershed sewershed of Jamaica Bay.

         21                 Issues such as education, regulation,

         22  enforcement, erosion, monitoring, water quality

         23  standards, reduction of non-point pollution sources,

         24  threats to aquatic life, runoff from JFK Airport,

         25  and coordination of agencies should all be addressed
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          2  in this plan.

          3                 The flight plans from JFK Airport

          4  bring most of the take off and landings over the

          5  water and marshes of Jamaica Bay. Therefore, we also

          6  ask to include the study of the effects of the

          7  airshed pollution on the Jamaica Bay watershed.

          8                 We applaud the efforts of the City

          9  Council Committee on Environmental Protection under

         10  the Chair of James Gennaro, and look forward to

         11  working with the Committee on Parks and Recreation,

         12  to advancing our cause to protect Jamaica Bay, which

         13  is a New York City jewel possessing exceptional

         14  diversity.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you, Dan. And Don, of course. Thank you, Joe, for

         18  keeping these properties from being sold.

         19                 We do have to move along to many

         20  other witnesses, but I just -- I'm very grateful to

         21  you for making sure that these properties weren't

         22  being sold, and making the case for why we have to,

         23  you know, with all the talk about restoration, it's

         24  critically important that we just don't give away

         25  what we currently have.
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          2                 And, Don, I just thank you. We all

          3  thank you from the bottom of our hearts for being

          4  out there every day, and for being the forceful

          5  advocate that the bay needs. We've got your Guardian

          6  Report here and we're grateful for it and all the

          7  work that went into making it, and both of you, as

          8  always, have given very comprehensive testimony. And

          9  we are going to continue to partner with you. And

         10  we've had some good ideas come out, you know, today

         11  so far, not related to the legislative items that we

         12  had on the table.

         13                 So, I thank you. I think Joe has got

         14  a comment as well, but thank you, both. And then

         15  once you step down, I'll just call in advance.

         16                 The next panel is Paul Mankiewicz,

         17  E.J. McAdams, and Brad Sewell.

         18                 Guys, thanks very much, appreciate

         19  it. And we'll be talking to you in more detail as we

         20  advance these proposals.

         21                 MR. RIEPE: Can I just add two points?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         23                 MR. RIEPE: I support that long pipe

         24  concept.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. Yes.

                                                            132

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 MR. RIEPE: In this case, the solution

          3  to pollution is dilution.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 MR. RIEPE: And also the dredging. If

          6  we can get clean fill to come into a grassy bay

          7  area, and you know, clean up and improve the benthic

          8  area, I think that will be a step forward.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         10  you, Don.

         11                 Joe.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Mr. Chair,

         13  thank you very much. And briefly, again, let me

         14  reiterate my appreciation for the work that both Don

         15  and Dan do and I not only obviously consider them as

         16  constituents, but friends, who have been working

         17  cooperatively with myself for the betterment of the

         18  environment and the community. So, thank you,

         19  gentlemen, for your efforts, and my office as well.

         20                 But just briefly, and I think Mr.

         21  Brash from EPA, if I'm not mistaken, alluded to it,

         22  to implement the watershed plan under Intro. 565.

         23  How important is it to work with the community,

         24  educate the community, educate the residents of the

         25  importance of Jamaica Bay, what it means to the
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          2  City, and the damages that have occurred in Jamaica

          3  Bay and the long-term effects that those damages may

          4  have, and how important is it to educate our

          5  residents in the community and the City in general?

          6                 MR. MUNDY: Well, you know, Joe, it's

          7  something that we've been saying for a long time,

          8  that it's got to begin here with education. It's got

          9  to begin in the school system with the kids.  It

         10  should start in kindergarten, right on up educating

         11  to what this important system has for us. I didn't

         12  find out until later on in life how important this

         13  was, and that's when I took up my pause, but I see

         14  now education is one of the most important things,

         15  because if we can get to the children of today, then

         16  the future of tomorrow will be protected through

         17  their education process and their knowledge of this

         18  process.

         19                 So, I think that's very, very

         20  important.

         21                 MR. RIEPE: We do get involved heavily

         22  in education. We have the Jamaica Bay boat tours, we

         23  bring the public out and talk about all the

         24  problems. Then we have a little Ospray club, where

         25  we take the children out to do some beach clean-ups
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          2  and things like that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I've been on

          4  the boat tours. I find them very informative, and

          5  gentlemen again thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chair, for

          6  your efforts as well.

          7                 MR. RIEPE: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Addabbo. And thank you. Thank you

         10  guys.

         11                 Paul Mankiewicz, E.J. McAdams, and

         12  Brad Sewell.

         13                 Okay, thank you all for being here.

         14  I'm going to try to be brief in my comments, we all

         15  know you guys have done great work with us, and

         16  getting to the point where we have these legislative

         17  items before us, and I thank you for all of your

         18  input.

         19                 Again, if we can stay to 565, 566,

         20  and 830, that would be great, or anything else that

         21  you absolutely must hear. The moratorium which has

         22  come out, which I think is excellent and the long

         23  pipe thing, and, you know, going to Washington to

         24  lobby for more money, like these are all important

         25  and I have no problems throwing that on the heat.
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          2                 So, with that said, we're kind of

          3  into our hurry-up mode, and I apologize for that.

          4  But Fredy will swear us in and then you can

          5  commence. Thank you.

          6                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you all solemnly swear

          7  or affirm to tell the truth?

          8                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          9                 MR. KAPLAN: State your names for the

         10  record.

         11                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Paul Mankiewicz, from

         12  the Gaia Institute, New York City Soil and Water

         13  Conservation District.

         14                 MR. SEWELL: Brad Sewell, Natural

         15  Resources Defense Counsel.

         16                 MR. McADAMS: E.J. McAdams, New York

         17  City Audubon.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, Paul, why

         19  don't we start with you.

         20                 MR. MANKIWEICZ: I support Intro. 565,

         21  Intro. 566 and Resolution 530 (sic), because they

         22  provide a plan, a program for land acquisition

         23  that's immediate, and the regulatory framework.

         24                 We need all three, even though I had

         25  some issues with, especially the third one in terms
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          2  of total maximum daily load.

          3                 But without an actual whole watershed

          4  plan, we cannot address Jamaica Bay. And one of the

          5  problems is, if you address the water quality at the

          6  end of the pipe, it's coming out of 26th Ward and

          7  the rest, you can't succeed, because it's something

          8  like about a tenth perhaps of the total nitrogen is

          9  also loaded from stormwater, and the best solution

         10  to that is probably to leave it on the land. I'll

         11  get to that in a little bit, a little bit later.

         12                 Having served on the Harbor Estuary

         13  Program Habitat Work Group for about 15 years,

         14  thereabouts, ten plus. I have to say that the land

         15  acquisition, and land transfer doesn't work anywhere

         16  near quickly enough. Without a program like you're

         17  describing in 566, we will lose much land. The

         18  moratorium is a spectacular idea in that front.

         19                 In terms of the regulatory framework,

         20  something like a tenth of the total combined sewer

         21  -- I'm sorry, let me take a quick step back.

         22  Without a tenth of the total nitrogen entering the

         23  bay may be treated by biological systems, so instead

         24  of running with whatever the number is, 40,000 or

         25  36,000 pounds of nitrogen per day, something like a
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          2  tenth of that would be what they could handle.

          3                 So, whether it's by a long pipe or by

          4  ratcheting down, but you're not going to get there

          5  quickly, so the point is that the biology of the

          6  system is only going to go towards red tied and

          7  brown tied, if you basically move much, much more

          8  nitrogen out of the bay.

          9                 Let me say that the combined sewer

         10  problem is a large one, because then you have

         11  substantially higher tonnages entering the bay per

         12  day, and if were the City to institute something

         13  like the C Streets Program in Seattle, whereby

         14  preserving wetlands like Don and Dan were talking

         15  about, as well as upland systems, around parkland,

         16  around City streets, they actually dropped the

         17  stormwater and nitrogen load by more than a factor

         18  of ten, just by building street plantings, basically

         19  putting street plantings on their streets, and DEP

         20  would be well served to look down this direction

         21  because the combined sewer problem is an enormous

         22  one.

         23                 So, to date we have been off by at

         24  least in order of magnitude, we built a little

         25  postage stamp of a restored wetland, when we should
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          2  have built something 100 acres or more to actually

          3  see how to fetch the positioning of the system,

          4  affects its loss. We basically are addressing

          5  nitrogen, we're putting in at least ten times too

          6  much nitrogen and we have to drop that back one way

          7  or another.

          8                 And finally, most of the water that

          9  catch, falls on the land, could actually be captured

         10  on the land, and that would take away both a fair

         11  fraction of the combined sewer problem, as well as

         12  the non-point problem, which is enormous, the

         13  loadings of Jamaica Bay, and I'll stop there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         15  you, Paul.

         16                 MR. SEWELL: On behalf of NRDC, I want

         17  to thank you for the opportunity to testify today.

         18                 Specifically we want to voice our

         19  strong support for all three legislative items that

         20  we're discussing today. With these pieces of

         21  legislation by this hearing and the hearings that

         22  you've held in the past, and will certainly hold in

         23  the future, you know, the Committees are

         24  demonstrating a kind of leadership that the bay

         25  desperately needs, and hopefully these pieces can
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          2  serve as the primary building components of a

          3  comprehensive plan to protect and restore Jamaica

          4  Bay as we move forward.

          5                 Moving straight to the legislative

          6  items.

          7                 First I'm actually going to address

          8  most of my comments to the TMDL resolution, but

          9  first to deal with the two pieces of legislation.

         10                 Intro No. 565, we strongly support

         11  it. We've offered some suggestions, recommendations

         12  for some minor changes, modest changes in

         13  refinements, you can find those in our comments.

         14  They deal with adding on independent science review,

         15  putting some definitions in legislation as opposed

         16  to leaving it for DEP.

         17                 And in terms of 566, we strongly

         18  support it and would also echo the comments that it

         19  could go further, but it's certainly a wonderful

         20  piece of legislative work as it stands now.

         21                 So, Resolution No. 830, to address

         22  this. First, I want to set some context for exactly

         23  what a TMDL does, what its purpose is and how it

         24  could be helpful and in fact necessary here, because

         25  it's not clear to me, given the testimony today,
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          2  that there's the level of understanding as to what a

          3  TMDL can do here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please, I was

          5  going to say, I was counting on you to talk about

          6  this. Because, you know, I think it was your

          7  testimony at a previous hearing that, you know, got

          8  me really interested in the idea of pushing the TMDL

          9  big time. But as you heard from the testimony today,

         10  you know, some people are kind of wobbly on it. So,

         11  please.

         12                 MR. SEWELL: Right. And that said, and

         13  I'll get to this at the end, I think that there is

         14  more than ample room to deal with some of the

         15  concerns, in fact, most of the concerns that have

         16  been raised today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, the reason

         18  you do a TMDL, a Total Maximum Daily Load, is when

         19  the effluent limits that you've set and that you're

         20  able to set aren't doing the job, that they can't

         21  meet water quality standards and designated uses in

         22  the receiving water. That's when the TMDL

         23  requirement in the law kicks in. And it causes you

         24  to go back and look at -- first of all, assess what

         25  the receiving body needs, in terms of nitrogen.
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          2  Obviously, it's getting, Jamaica Bay is getting too

          3  much now. In using a scientific process and

          4  methodology, and input from agencies and

          5  stakeholders, there's a decision as to exactly what

          6  load, what load will do the job in Jamaica Bay and

          7  obviously it needs to be significantly less than it

          8  is now to avoid the alga blooms in the summer and

          9  the other things that we're seeing in terms of water

         10  quality impairments in Jamaica Bay.

         11                 And then they go back and they figure

         12  out how that translates into loads from various

         13  types of point and non-point sources, and then they

         14  do load allocations among those sources, and that

         15  process can be quite flexible and can include some

         16  of the things like outfall changes. It can wholly

         17  address non-point source in watershed planning. In

         18  fact, TMDL process and the watershed planning

         19  process envisioned in Intro. No. 565 could work

         20  quite well together, and the TMDL could serve as an

         21  extremely strong foundation for the water quality

         22  aspects of that watershed planning process.

         23                 So, we've seen this instance that the

         24  effluent limits for Jamaica Bay is water treatment

         25  plants and the associated CSOs, that those effluent
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          2  limits in the associated permit terms are not doing

          3  the job.

          4                 It is true that there's been an

          5  improvement in water quality in Jamaica Bay, up

          6  until around 2000, but it has backslid since then

          7  and much of that improvement through the 1990s was

          8  really due to improvements in water conservation,

          9  and the actual improvements into the pipe

         10  improvements, in terms of upgrades that the plants

         11  probably just enabled us to stay even.

         12                 In looking forward, the upgrades plan

         13  for the Jamaica Bay plants are not going to achieve

         14  water quality standards. At best they will enable us

         15  to stay even, and if you look at the background, at

         16  the documentation provided by DEC and DEP associated

         17  with the most recent revision of the CSO,

         18  Administrative Consent Order, they essentially say

         19  that the CSO problem will be no better in 2022, than

         20  it is today. That the upgrades will simply enable

         21  the system to keep pace with the development

         22  anticipated in the basin.

         23                 So something more is necessary. And

         24  that is the TMDL.

         25                 And without a TMDL, DEP is simply not
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          2  going to do the job.

          3                 I mean, although they have devoted

          4  money under a legal instrument at the nitrogen ACO

          5  to some upgrades at the Jamaica Bay facilities.

          6  Those upgrades aren't going to achieve water quality

          7  standards. And in fact, if you look at the total

          8  funding, outlays of funding across the system

          9  associated with wastewater treatment plant upgrades,

         10  the amount of money being spent on upgrades for the

         11  plants affecting Jamaica Bay is a fraction. I don't

         12  know what it is exactly, although I can get back to

         13  the Committee with what it is. It's well under 50

         14  percent in terms of what's being spent for

         15  wastewater treatment plant upgrades.

         16                 For the Jamaica Bay facilities

         17  itself, I could guesstimate, you know ten percent of

         18  the money is being associated for Jamaica Bay, and

         19  the rest is going elsewhere. And in fact, that

         20  amount of money is much less than what was planned a

         21  number of years ago, and it's been slashed by maybe

         22  50 percent since outlays have been proposed a few

         23  years ago.

         24                 So, two issues have been raised

         25  today, in terms of how to deal with the application
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          2  of TMDL to this particular circumstance.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm going to

          4  have to ask you to do this quickly.

          5                 MR. SEWELL: Yes, I will do it -- one

          6  is funding and financing. That can be dealt with, as

          7  it has been with the Long Island Sound TMDL. It's

          8  just simply through an appropriate compliance

          9  schedule, drawing out the funding schedule and still

         10  get the job done.

         11                 And the second is simply being

         12  flexible in how the TMDL is developed and

         13  implemented, and I'll stop there. Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         16  you, Brad.

         17                 Mr. McAdams.

         18                 MR. McADAMS: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is E.J. McAdams. I'm the Executive Director of New

         20  York City Audubon, a grassroots organization that

         21  protects and conserves wild birds and habitat in the

         22  five boroughs, improving the quality of life for all

         23  New Yorkers.

         24                 On behalf of our 10,000 members, I

         25  urge the committees and the entire Council to
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          2  protect the City's rich, natural areas by passing

          3  Intro. 565, 566 and Resolution 830.

          4                 With that introduction, I'm going to

          5  leave my notes alone and just talk a little bit

          6  about the things that came up --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good.

          8                 MR. McADAMS: -- Particularly around

          9  Intro. 566, which, you know, when I came to this

         10  Committee, the Parks Committee, and seeing the

         11  letter that you had put out as the Chair, Council

         12  Member Addabbo and Council Member Yassky, that is

         13  one of the best things that I had ever seen, gave me

         14  the most hope for the future of habitat in the City.

         15  I thought it was a visionary piece of legislation.

         16  I've heard things today that would enhance it,

         17  including the moratorium, the adding on other

         18  important habitat areas. But I think this is really

         19  amazing, and what I think is great about it is that

         20  it could happen quickly.  These are City-owned

         21  properties. It's a matter of a transfer, it's not

         22  looking for a willing seller, it's not dealing with

         23  the market. This is a tremendous opportunity, and it

         24  was very exciting to be a part of it.

         25                 At the same time it is still
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          2  frustrating because there are so many great

          3  properties that still need to be transferred that

          4  haven't happened. So, I wanted to address that,

          5  because that's what the Parks talked about in the

          6  DEP, and they really have been great stewards, and I

          7  don't want to knock them, but I do think that

          8  something needs to be said today, which is that

          9  there is no property too small. There's no property

         10  too small. There's no wetland too small when you're

         11  talking about an urban area like New York City.

         12                 And besides that, there's many high

         13  priority larger sites that need to be acquired. HEP

         14  has done a wonderful job of pointing out what those

         15  sites are. New York City Audubon and New Yorkers for

         16  Parks have put together an natural areas initiative

         17  which you guys have with my comments today.

         18                 There's been many, many reports that

         19  we've put out about Jamaica Bay and others natural

         20  areas, and this is an opportunity to make a

         21  difference.

         22                 So, I'm going to say one last time

         23  that I think there is nothing too small, and the

         24  benefits from those wetlands are going to be a

         25  wonderful resource. And just to say, the work that
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          2  was already done, just that letter that was sent,

          3  has already made a big difference. One of those four

          4  properties that you mentioned that have been turned

          5  over to the Parks is a one-acre island called Goose

          6  Island. On that one-acre island, there are over 100

          7  nesting egrets and herons. So, one acre really can

          8  make a difference in the City, and I'll close with

          9  that.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         12  you for driving that point home.

         13                 Mr. McAdams, this is why we have to

         14  do better on that, and, you know, we think 566 would

         15  be a great way to go. But at a minimum we have to do

         16  more and we thank you for all that you continue to

         17  do with regard to that and we thank you for your

         18  ongoing partnership. We're going to get something

         19  done here and thank you. Thank you.

         20                 Brad, yes, with the TMDLs, thank you

         21  for your comments on those, because I was very

         22  bullish on them and then I talked to other people,

         23  it took a little bit of a hit, and so you're trying

         24  to bring it back. So, trying to do good things, but

         25  we'll talk more about the TMDLs and exactly how we,
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          2  you know, figure that one out. And feel free to have

          3  conversations, of course, with people who are

          4  thinking the other way on it, and see if there is

          5  some, you know, common ground we could all agree on,

          6  if you could do some of that, I think that would be

          7  helpful. Thank you.

          8                 MR. McADAMS: I look forward to that.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Great.

         11                 And Paul, I know we got some -- I

         12  made a real push when I met with Emily Lloyd and

         13  Dave Tweedy, you know, about doing some wetland

         14  restoration stuff on Fountain Avenue and

         15  Pennsylvania Avenue. I think it would be a great

         16  site for some Mankiewicz magic, if I might say that.

         17  And, so, keep talking to staff, make sure that I

         18  continue to pressure those guys to put some money in

         19  the budget for that.

         20                 I also want to wish you a speedy

         21  recovery on your surgery.

         22                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Hey, this hearing is

         23  about three weeks late, but it was okay to hobble in

         24  here. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, you're a
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          2  real trooper as always, please give my best to

          3  Julie.

          4                 So, folks, thanks very much. I've got

          5  to move on. But thank you.

          6                 Eugenia Flatow, Michelle Bicek and

          7  Ellen Hartig.

          8                 We thank the panel. Thank you all for

          9  being here. We appreciate it. We thank you for your

         10  patience, and Fredy will do the honors with the

         11  oath, and then you could proceed with your good

         12  testimony, starting with Genia. But Fredy, go ahead.

         13                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you all solemnly swear

         14  or affirm to tell the truth, nothing but the truth?

         15                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         16                 MR. KAPLAN: Please state your names

         17  for the record again.

         18                 MS. FLATOW: Eugenia M. Flatow.

         19                 MS. HARTIG: Ellen Krakower Hartig.

         20                 MS. BICEK: Michelle Bicek.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. So, before

         22  you all start, I'll give my little -- because we're

         23  really, really running over. So, 565, 566, 830,

         24  okay? Go.

         25                 MS. FLATOW: Okay. Thank you very much
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          2  for all the hard work that you have done. And you

          3  are part of a plan that we are trying to put

          4  together.

          5                 I appear to you today, and you can

          6  see it in your testimony, on three organizations.

          7  And we are trying to put together a relationship of

          8  partnerships with both the State Legislature and the

          9  City Council and the Congress in Washington so that

         10  we can show what our priorities are, as we develop

         11  them with the community and get the backing that we

         12  need to match the funding that has already come from

         13  this area.

         14                 So, I gave you today the final work

         15  of a cooperative venture with the engineers and the

         16  Port Authority, that basically says to the

         17  Washington elected officials, that if you put up as

         18  much money as you have for the deepening of the

         19  harbor and the expansion of the port, there needs to

         20  be a complimentary putting up of resources to do the

         21  work that must be done in the environmental

         22  community, both to protect it, and clean it up and

         23  make it better.

         24                 I will be quick. I am for 565, but I

         25  want to tell you that we are working with the State
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          2  Legislature to give funding for this as they gave to

          3  Southern Long Island, so that our plan can develop

          4  some work on land use that keeps from building the

          5  big stores, and the big apartments that create

          6  transportation problems and everything else and

          7  everything that we're investing in the bay.

          8                 If we did everything we heard to day

          9  to fix up the bay, we still should have some

         10  understanding in advance of any development plans

         11  that are within the watershed.

         12                 So, you have correctly termed it, the

         13  Jamaica Bay Watershed is what we need a plan for,

         14  not just for the bay proper, for all of the

         15  surrounding territory that impacts on that.

         16                 And we've already done that and

         17  Audrey Pfeifer, in her niminable (phonetic) way has

         18  gone and gotten a little money put aside. If it

         19  survives the budget process in Albany, we'll be

         20  ready to start.

         21                 So, I think that this is very timely

         22  and very important. And I completely agree with Al

         23  Appleton that we can look at wetlands, but we also

         24  should look at other things that are near them, to

         25  protect them. You've heard what Audubon had to say.
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          2  I think that's marvelous.

          3                 In the TMDLs, if every resident of

          4  New York City put up a dollar, we could build a

          5  special plan for a new way of handling this that

          6  would not require us to invest as much as we need to

          7  fix up all of the plans, because a great deal of

          8  what happened was when we dewatered the sludge.

          9  That's what happened in the late nineties, that's

         10  what made the big difference. And the Committee that

         11  operates under the estuary program for doing the

         12  TMDLs, is working toward it, but the trouble is that

         13  trying to match that with what we want to do to save

         14  the wetlands and all the rest of it, is tricky for

         15  time.

         16                 So, I'm in favor of whatever science

         17  says is necessary to reach the position that we must

         18  be in for the bay, but I'm just nervous about when

         19  it takes place with everything else that has

         20  happened.

         21                 Thank you for this opportunity.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Gina.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You've got to --

         25  okay, you've got it on now.
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          2                 MS. HARTIG: I'm sorry, I didn't

          3  understand that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, no, just

          5  that you just needed your microphone to be on, and

          6  now it's on.

          7                 MS. HARTIG: Okay. I'm Ellen Kracauer

          8  Hartig, a professional wetland scientist, and have

          9  been working on Jamaica by marsh loss issues since

         10  1998, and I'm just going to be very brief and

         11  address the resolutions for 565. I think the

         12  watershed protection plan is the way to go. I think

         13  our National Park Service has a general management

         14  plan for Jamaica Bay that's been wonderful and in

         15  effect since 1970s when they formed, and now this

         16  will take it to the next step to do a whole

         17  watershed plan. That should be in conjunction with

         18  keeping up the management plan of Jamaica Bay that

         19  protects its lands. So, this will protect lands

         20  off-site. I just want to remind everyone, National

         21  Park Service would have the ability, also this goes

         22  into 566, to expand their own taking. So what City

         23  Parks perhaps doesn't want to take over, if there

         24  are wetlands in and around the bay that the City

         25  parks does not want to take hold of, there is in the
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          2  enabling legislation for parks service ability for

          3  them to also acquire some additional wetlands. So, I

          4  just wanted to add that.

          5                 And there are certainly areas in

          6  addressing 566, where by softening the shore line,

          7  you could allow for inland migration of some of the

          8  marshes. So that as the marshes disappear due to the

          9  sea level rise, they're literally drowning in place,

         10  you would have a way to have inland migration. There

         11  is Base Water Point State Park where there are old

         12  seawalls that are already breaking down, those could

         13  be removed. And I've talked to people at Port

         14  Authority about that. So, what part of the task

         15  force study may be, you know, in transferring either

         16  the wetlands to the City -- well, to City-owned

         17  wetlands to City parks or parks service, but that

         18  would allow this inland migration of marshes.

         19                 As far as 830, TMDLs, I just, I

         20  think, you know, it sounds like more discussion is

         21  necessary. Al Appleton's discussion is very good,

         22  and I know in talking with him that, you know,

         23  putting out some of the, you know, the ideas

         24  shouldn't get lost or putting out an arm into the

         25  ocean that would allow some of the nitrogen to in a
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          2  way escape to the ocean instead of into the bay.

          3                 I know I was involved in the early

          4  '90s with the City's upgrade of the water pollution

          5  control plant, and it was understood early that they

          6  could take care of a lot of the contaminants but

          7  nitrogen would continue to be a problem.

          8                 I also wanted just to point out on

          9  the last page of my testimony, I have sort of a

         10  picture, I may have given it out before, that shows

         11  it includes in the last column on ecological changes

         12  that, you know, the increased nitrogen loadings that

         13  it influence water quality, but there are also the

         14  many other effects, from the marsh loss, and that I

         15  agree with Dr. Swanson, the science isn't there yet

         16  to say the nitrogen is the cause of this marsh loss,

         17  and is one of probably many synergistic effects that

         18  sediment loading, or sediment starvation, rather, is

         19  also a big issue.

         20                 We really never could say what the

         21  predominant cause is, but addressing many of these

         22  issues will help. So, I thank the Council for all

         23  the great work, and interest in the bay, and all the

         24  people who are working so hard. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 MS. BICEK: Hello.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. Ms. Bicek,

          5  right?

          6                 MS. BICEK: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Did I say that

          8  right? Bicek.

          9                 MS. BICEK: It is like that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         11                 MS. BICEK: And I'm representing

         12  Environmental Defense today.

         13                 I'll just highlight a couple of

         14  things in my testimony, and also comment on some

         15  things that some people had addressed today.

         16                 Environmental Defense does -- I'm

         17  sorry. Environmental Defense supports all three of

         18  the legislation pieces.

         19                 Something to highlight. The two

         20  agencies that we heard from this morning, the Parks

         21  Department and also Commissioner Tweedy, and they

         22  had some comments on what programs are already

         23  taking place, and they're already influencing so

         24  much of what's going on around the bay.

         25                 We would like to recognize that there
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          2  has been some remarkable progress in the bay in the

          3  past years, the Buffer the Bay acquisition program,

          4  the New York New Jersey HEP program, and these

          5  efforts are good steps. You know, they have been

          6  important first steps, but they haven't resolved

          7  many key outstanding issues that continue to

          8  threaten aquatic habitat. So, we agree with Mr.

          9  Appleton and what some of the other people have

         10  testified today, that the Council can take a

         11  leadership role in helping to create a stronger,

         12  more cohesive comprehensive watershed management

         13  plan. So, that's one thing.

         14                 Also, the legislation that you're

         15  proposing, we hope to strengthen and adhere to

         16  stricter development guidelines. Lot's of people

         17  have talked about development within the Jamaica

         18  Bay. Council Member Addabbo talked about a specific

         19  residential property. There could be ways that we

         20  can incorporate community benefit agreements that

         21  help to restore or protect land, while they're doing

         22  these developments, along the way. We've done things

         23  like this out in California, which could be

         24  implemented.

         25                 In regards to Resolution 830, we
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          2  support the Council's efforts to address nitrogen

          3  and pollution in the bay, and I just want to make

          4  one comment that the proposed TMDL for Jamaica Bay

          5  will be an important step towards nitrogen reduction

          6  goals, because it moves the process from unfocused,

          7  vague and undefined outcomes to progress towards an

          8  explicit and measurable goal. And I know that you've

          9  heard a lot today from a variety of people, we just

         10  want to support that as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         12  you, all. I wish I had more of a luxury of time to

         13  indulge on your great comments and all of what

         14  you've done this far to be of help. And I thank you

         15  all for that.

         16                 But Ellen, do you correspond or

         17  interact with Larry Swanson on some of this stuff?

         18                 MS. HARTIG: We should do more of it.

         19  Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: He's, you know,

         21  waiting for the end of the hearing here, and clearly

         22  there's a good business card transfer that I would

         23  recommend.

         24                 MS. HARTIG: Yes. One of the Stony

         25  Brook students early on did the marsh loss work with
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          2  us.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Stony Brook

          4  students go on to do great things. Some of them.

          5  Whatever. Although they had this thing for my --

          6  okay, I won't. I just recently had my 25 years, from

          7  my class of '79, all the people who went on to do

          8  great things, and I'm not even on the list, so that

          9  just shows you people are doing wonderful things

         10  that come out of Stony Brook.

         11                 But thank you all very much. I

         12  appreciate you being here.

         13                 And the last panel, they get the

         14  award for patience. Sally Kahill. Oop, we head from

         15  him already. David Burg. David Burg, please. And

         16  Catherine Greene-Manzi, looks like, president for

         17  the Coalition for the South Beach Pond Park

         18  Preserve.

         19                 So, we called three, we got two.

         20  That's okay. That's okay.

         21                 So, thank you. Thank you, both, for

         22  being here. And I'd ask Fredy to swear in the

         23  witnesses.

         24                 Fredy.

         25                 MR. KAPLAN: Do you solemnly swear or

                                                            160

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  affirm to tell the truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          4                 MS. GREENE-MANZI: Catherine

          5  Greene-Manzi.

          6                 MR. BURG: David Burg, Wild Metro.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          8  Cathy, it looks like you're ready to go there?

          9                 MS. GREENE-MANZI: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, please.

         11                 MS. GREENE-MANZI: Definitely.

         12  Definitely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please. I'm

         14  sorry I'm in my hurry-up mode.

         15                 MR. GREENE-MANZI: That's all right.

         16  I'm actually here today representing residents of

         17  Staten Island. But also a community advocate, and

         18  the President of the Coalition for the South Beach

         19  Pond Park Preserve and also friends of Ocean Breeze

         20  Park. I'm also a park advocate.

         21                 In response to Intro. 565, I

         22  definitely support it. And one of the reasons why I

         23  do is because first of all Jamaica Bay is very close

         24  to home, as far as waterways. It also makes me feel

         25  very uncomfortable. I live adjacent to Oakwood
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          2  Beach, and there's the DEP sewage plant right there.

          3  Many times in the past sewage has come into the

          4  community and many of the residents along with

          5  myself feel that immediate action had to be taken,

          6  so sometimes they had to release it when runoff,

          7  when the tide was high, and runoff was there, and

          8  that's not always a healthy thing for marine life,

          9  for the community who fishes in this area. And, so,

         10  definitely it's something that has to be improved

         11  and hopefully with this Intro. Bill here it will be

         12  taken care of.

         13                 In regards to 566, a local law to

         14  create temporary task force, we definitely need a

         15  task force. The DEC jurisdiction doesn't seem to

         16  really uphold a lot of the laws. Article 24 states

         17  building within the 100 foot threatens the values of

         18  the wetlands functions yet.

         19                 I have a picture here that I would

         20  like to show you. And if someone can pass this, if

         21  this is all right?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Call the

         23  Sergeant to --

         24                 MS. GREENE-MANZI: It just basically

         25  shows a development that happened not in the
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          2  adjacent wetlands, but actually in the wetlands, and

          3  it's allowed through the loophole systems, through

          4  mitigation between the wetlands taking a part,

          5  giving a part back. So, if some of these City-owned

          6  wetlands could be protected under Parks, we've seen

          7  wonderful things happen when Parks had acquisition

          8  for these areas, so I definitely approve that, and

          9  so does the community and the groups that we're

         10  involved with.

         11                 Regarding the resolution strongly

         12  urging New York State DEC to immediate develop a

         13  plan, I would love to see this happen (sic). The

         14  community would, the groups would. We would like to

         15  see it happen, not only for Jamaica Bay, but for all

         16  the wetlands and adjacent wetlands that we have seen

         17  in the past and up to present actually affecting our

         18  water. And this is regarding to pollution, non-point

         19  and point pollution.

         20                 So, if this could definitely improve

         21  it, I would like to also say that working with the

         22  other agencies would be crucial and not just working

         23  on their own.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank
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          2  you so much.

          3                 Mr. Burg.

          4                 MR. BURG: Thank you. I'll try to wake

          5  everybody up. It's the end of the hearing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Al Appleton says

          7  wonderful things about you.

          8                 MR. BURG: That was very kind of him.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If you're a

         10  friend of his, you're a friend of mine.

         11                 MR. BURG: Even once in awhile there,

         12  he says something true, but don't take it all, take

         13  it all with a grain of salt.

         14                 I want to speak here today, both as a

         15  person who has had about 20 years experience with

         16  environmental works in New York City, also as a

         17  person who had a number of years experience from the

         18  business community.

         19                 I was in the real estate field for

         20  awhile, and that's more of an oxymoron as you want,

         21  is an environmentalist real estate person. We need

         22  to see what are the threats to the environmental

         23  areas that we're talking about, and I think the

         24  threats are coming into two categories. Legitimate

         25  need for economic growth, for places to live, for
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          2  places to shop, for commercial activity, for

          3  industrial activity.

          4                 The other part of that is, we need to

          5  be able to get together between our business

          6  interest and our protection interest to make the

          7  City that we all want.

          8                 I want to -- one thing they're

          9  teaching in real estate is to create a sense of

         10  urgency. This is a City-owned and State-owned

         11  property. This happened to be on Staten Island but

         12  it's illustrative of what's happening right now. We

         13  are in the most destructive, we're seeing more

         14  destruction of natural areas in this City than any

         15  time in the last 20 years.

         16                 I'm president of a small, but growing

         17  group, called Wild Metro, and our goal is to work on

         18  making cities more livable, by protecting nature in

         19  the environment, and we're working not just with New

         20  York City where we are headquartered in Manhattan,

         21  but on cities around the world.

         22                 What you see here is one of the most,

         23  not only beautiful sites, the fact is this is in

         24  Staten Island, this is one of the sites that has

         25  more endangered species than any other site in the
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          2  tristate Metropolitan area.

          3                 This is what's going on to that site

          4  now. This is actually City-owned again site, an EDC

          5  project, and then there's a bunch of other agencies

          6  involved.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What kind of

          8  project?

          9                 MR. BURG: Well, actually, part of

         10  this is the 42 acres that was recently sold for

         11  shopping center development, which while Metro, NRDC

         12  and others, you know, worked with Brad and Al here,

         13  and others, try to -- we had a lawsuit, some of that

         14  is still in litigation, and there's a number of

         15  other City public purposes that are being used for

         16  the rest of the site, including some of our friends

         17  who testified before.

         18                 This site was listed in the State

         19  open space acquisition. I've been on the Harbor

         20  Estuary Program since almost 15 years, it was listed

         21  in the priority list for protection, it's in the

         22  coastal zone management area, it's got protection

         23  after protection and one would think would have

         24  helped the site, and, yet, it's going down. And this

         25  is happening to some degree in City-owned sites, and
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          2  more on privately-owned sites. It is the last of the

          3  Buffalo hunt right now.

          4                 What Catherine and I have worked

          5  together on, many of you may have seen the article

          6  about what's eating Staten Island, where we formed a

          7  coalition to save Staten Island. I live in the

          8  Bronx, I worked on Jamaica Bay when I was President

          9  of the Audubon Society a number of years, it's going

         10  on everywhere.

         11                 Another thing, terms of reports, and

         12  this is getting directly to the legislation, we've

         13  had a lot of reports. I'm not against a further

         14  review of those reports, but I think the things

         15  you've heard today that are the most critical

         16  pieces, are the moratorium, and the protection of

         17  wetland adjacent places, because those are things

         18  that are not now adequately protected, and I want to

         19  say, as important these things are environmentally,

         20  they're more important for economic, recreation,

         21  health, for the human needs.

         22                 It doesn't do anybody any good to put

         23  people in the Far Rockaways, where as it was

         24  mentioned before, even in a category 1 hurricane,

         25  the mildest hurricane, according to Professor
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          2  Nicholas Koch, and according to the maps of the

          3  federal emergency management agency, whole thing is

          4  going to be under water.

          5                 And to put people in coastal zones

          6  for short-term profit of the real estate industry, I

          7  think is shortsighted on the part of everyone.

          8                 So, I'm here to say on the first two,

          9  on 565 and 566, very much in support. But what you

         10  need is you need some teeth to actually get

         11  something done. Because we've had a lot of studies,

         12  we've had laws passed, and as I've been pointing

         13  out, we've really got some issues here that need to

         14  be addressed.

         15                 So, in terms of the TMDLs, I think

         16  enough people have spoken about that, it's not my

         17  area of expertise. But on terms of the open space

         18  protection, we've had -- we're squandering a

         19  marvelous opportunity, and I think that we can have

         20  those big real estate and commercial developments,

         21  but we've got to do it carefully, intelligently, and

         22  near existing rail infrastructure, or else we get

         23  the situation of the kind of problems that we're

         24  having here now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, thank you,
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          2  both. I appreciate your being here.

          3                 And you know, it certainly is an

          4  issue, as you've just illustrated that certainly

          5  goes beyond Jamaica Bay. You know, the Jamaica Bay

          6  situation is kind of like replicating itself

          7  throughout the City, and you're good work in Staten

          8  Island is most appreciated. And your patience in

          9  lasting this long in the hearing is great as well.

         10                 MR. BURG: Thank you very much for

         11  having the hearing.

         12                 MS. GREENE-MANZI: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And you're

         14  officially in the loop on this effort as we take it

         15  down the tracks. So, Catherine, David, thank you

         16  very much for being here.

         17                 And with no one else being heard, we

         18  won't have anymore witnesses, but we just would like

         19  to state for the record some of the testimony that

         20  we have gotten in writing, from a member of the

         21  Assembly Audrey Pfeffer, Louis Rodriguez, who

         22  submitted testimony for the Port Authority, Dr. John

         23  Tanacredi, or something like that, Tanacredit, from

         24  Dowling College and Mora Laut from New Yorkers for

         25  Parks.
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          2                 I see my good friend Bob Alpern in

          3  the audience, and having recognized him, we will

          4  conclude this hearing. Hearing adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 1:35 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 31st day of March 2005.
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